Applied Intersectionality: Supporting Families of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder from Racial, Ethnic, and Cultural Minority Groups

Paul De Luca

A Thesis in

The Department

of

Education

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts

(Child Studies) at Concordia University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

July 2023

© Paul De Luca, 2023

CONCORDIA UNIVERSITY School of Graduate Studies

This is to certify that the thesis prepared

By:	Paul De Luca	
Entitled:	Applied Intersectionality: Supporting Families of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder from Rad	cial, Ethnic, and Cultural Minority Groups
and submitted	in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the	e degree of
	Master of Arts (Child Studies	S)
-	the regulations of the University and meets the inality and quality.	accepted standards with
Signed by the	final examining committee:	
		_ Chair
	Dr. Elsa Lo	_ Examiner
	Dr. Hariclia Petrakos	_Examiner
	Dr. Miranda D'Amico	_ Thesis Supervisor(s)
		Thesis Supervisor(s)
Approv	•	
	Dr. Sandra Martin-Chang Chair of Departmen	t or Graduate Program Director
Pas	cale Sicotte Peop of Faculty	

ABSTRACT

Applied Intersectionality: Supporting Families of Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder from Racial, Ethnic, and Cultural Minority Groups

Paul De Luca

Having a child with special needs may incur a tremendous toll on the family unit, a reality that is significantly more pronounced for members of marginalized (i.e., racial and ethnic minorities) communities. Examples of these disparities include more pronounced barriers to healthcare, delayed diagnoses, and difficulty accessing critical services. The present study had two aims. Firstly, to conduct a needs assessment exploring the types of services ethnically diverse parents rely on to support their children and families, as well as their satisfaction with the quality of these services. Secondly, to test the efficacy of a culturally adapted parent training program, 'Parents Taking Action (PTA)', with the goal of: a. Increasing parents' knowledge of ASD b. Reducing parental stress c. Increasing parents' perceived competence and self-efficacy beliefs. Five parents (n = 5) were recruited. The findings indicate that parents rely on several services offered by healthcare providers (e.g., pediatricians), education specialists, professionals (e.g., speech pathologists, occupational therapists, ABA therapists) to support their children from both the private and public sector to varying degrees of satisfaction. Several challenges to accessing services emerged: long waitlists, absence of information following a diagnosis, inaccessibility of private care (i.e., financial constraints) and language barriers, and issues within the public sector (e.g., lack of resources, poorly trained specialists, overcrowded services within the child's school). Furthermore, all parents' knowledge of ASD increased, half the parents saw a reduction of stress, and half of the parents' self-efficacy beliefs improved. Taken together, the findings from the present study continue to support a burgeoning literature in support of culturally-adapted materials to support ethnically diverse parents of children with special needs.

Acknowledgments

I am forever grateful to several people whose support made the present thesis possible. Firstly, I would like to thank the parents in the present study for their participation and being tremendously gracious with their time. Over the course of the last few months, your stories of strength, resilience, and perseverance have inspired me greatly. Your enthusiasm and willingness to share your victories, hardships, and challenges have been incredibly meaningful. I will forever be grateful for the way in which you selflessly offered your time and attention.

I would also like to thank Dr. Miranda D'Amico for her unwavering support, dedication, and invaluable mentorship for which I am wholeheartedly appreciative. I would like to thank you for working tirelessly to support not only my thesis project, for which your expertise and professionalism have served me well, but for supporting all my academic and professional endeavours. I will forever cherish my time as your graduate student at Concordia University. My only hope is that I can apply all the tools and resources you have given me to make you proud as I enter this next exciting chapter! I would also like to acknowledge and thank my examining committee members Dr. Harriet Petrakos and Dr. Elsa Lo for their continued support and feedback. I have benefited greatly from your expertise.

I would be remiss not to thank my family for their unconditional love and support, which has been instrumental in helping me to attain my goals. I would also like to thank my friends - both old and new. I would especially like to honour my dear friends and peers in the Child Studies program: Gabrielle, Sabrina, and Rebecca. We have shared laughs, tears, and incredible memories that I will never forget. Thank you for being a light in my life – I could not imagine a world without you and I hope I never have to. Though I am sad this chapter has come to an end, I am eager to see what the future has in store for all of us.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	ix
List of Appendices	x
Introduction	1
Rationale	1
An Intersectional Approach	3
Literature Review	4
Theoretical Frameworks	4
Bronfenbrenner's Bioecological Model	4
Family Systems Theory	10
Impact of ASD on the family	14
Parents	14
Siblings	16
Family Income and Resources	18
An Intersectional Perspective	20
Navigating Systemic Barriers	20
Language Minority Groups	23
Cultural Attitudes: Taboos, Attitudes, and Beliefs	24
Contextualized Family Care: Family-Based Interventions	25
Parent Training	25
Collaborating With Educators	28

Cultural Sensitivity: The Case for Adapted Interventions
The Ecological Validity Framework
Cultural Adaptation
Parents Taking Action (PTA): A Culturally Adapted Intervention
PTA – Robustness and Flexibility
The Present Study
Methodology
Sample and Recruitment
Sample Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria
Recruitment Sites
Sample Composition and Procedure
Protocol For Phase I
Semi-Structured Interview
Data Coding and Analysis41
Protocol For Phase II
Measures
Data Collection & Analysis
Results
Research Aim I
Data Analysis
Summary 47

Parent 1	49
Parent 2	
Parent 3	53
Parent 4	56
Parent 5	57
Research Aim II	59
Data Analysis	59
Parent 2	62
Parent 3	64
Parent 4	
Parent 5	67
Discussion	69
Research Aim I	70
Types of Services	70
Challenges	71
Research Aim II	80
Knowledge of ASD	80
Parental Stress	81
Efficacy Beliefs	83
Limitations	85
Future Directions	86
Implications	88

Conclusion
References 92
Appendices
Appendix A - Recruitment Sites & Flyer
Appendix B - Sample Consent Form
Appendix C - Semi-structured interview script
Appendix D - Weekly Intervention Schedule, Objectives, & Activities
Appendix E - Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, and Efficacy (CBSE) Scale (Heller et al., 1999)
Appendix F - Autism Parenting Stress Index (APSI) (Silva & Schalok, 2012)
Appendix G - Autism Spectrum Knowledge Scale, General Version (APKS-G) (McClain et al.,
2019)

List of Tables

Table 1 – Autism Spectrum Knowledge Scale	60
Table 2 – Autism Parenting Stress Index	61
Table 3 – Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, and Efficacy	62
Table 4 – Summary of Parent 2's ASD Knowledge, Stress, and CBSE	64
Table 5 – Summary of Parent 3's ASD Knowledge, Stress, and CBSE	65
Table 6 - Summary of Parent 4's ASD Knowledge, Stress, and CBSE	67
Table 7 - Summary of Parent 5's ASD Knowledge, Stress, and CBSE	69

List of Appendices

Appendix A – Recruitment Sites & Flyer	.116
Appendix B – Sample Consent Form	.118
Appendix C – Semi-Structured Interview Script	.122
Appendix D – Weekly Intervention Schedule, Objectives, & Activities	124
Appendix E – Caregiver Burden, Satisfication, Efficacy (CBSE) Scale	128
Appendix F – Autism Parenting Stress Index (APSI)	.130
Appendix G – Autism Spectrum Knowledge Scale, General Version (APKS-G)	131

Introduction

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder with observed deficits in communication and social interaction skills, repetitive behaviours, and restricted interests (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The effects of ASD may not only be distressing to the child but can negatively impact the family as well. For example, parents of children with ASD may incur tremendous costs to support their children through therapy and other specialized services (Lavelle et al., 2014). This issue is further exacerbated by caregiving duties to support children with ASD, which can impede employment opportunities (Houser et al., 2014). Moreover, the literature overwhelmingly suggests parents of children with ASD report higher levels of stress (DePape & Lindsay, 2015; Tomiyama et al., 2018; Van Esch et al., 2018). These mental health-related outcomes for parents of children with ASD have been exacerbated by the current COVID-19 pandemic (Lee et al., 2021). Siblings of children with ASD may also be adversely affected compared to siblings of typically developing (TD) children (Shivers et al., 2019; Smith & McQuade, 2021). For example, siblings of children with ASD are more likely to report turbulent sibling relationships, greater propensity towards internalizing behaviour problems, and psychological and social functioning difficulties (Shivers et al., 2019). Thus, the role of contextualized family care in supporting children with ASD represents a promising opportunity to mobilize parents, empower children, and strengthen the family unit.

Rationale

The Autism and Developmental Disabilities Monitoring (ADDM) Network estimates that one in fifty-four children will be diagnosed with ASD (Maenner et al., 2020). In the absence of early intervention and critical services such as psychoeducation and clinical support, ASD symptomology may severely inhibit children's ability to reach developmental and educational

milestones. Moreover, the pervasive nature of ASD means symptoms will persist across the child's lifespan into adolescence and eventual adulthood. Developmental disorders in general appear to be on the rise. Using data collected from the National Health Interview Survey, Zablotsky et al. (2019) estimates 1 in 6 North American children will be diagnosed with a developmental disability. These figures are based on parent reports spanning nearly a decade of research. They include reports from thousands of parents disclosing whether a doctor or health professional had formally diagnosed their child with a developmental disability. When observing the rates of ASD specifically, the data reveals a significant increase suggesting the rates of ASD have been steadily increasing since the start of this study in 2011. To iterate how drastic these increases have been, the prevalence rates of ASD from 2011-2013 was 1.25% compared to 2.24% just a year later in 2014. Given the growing rates of ASD observed in North America and the myriad of ways ASD symptomology disparages children, these statistics are not negligible.

Examples of the adverse outcomes children with ASD may be subjected to include low academic achievement, higher rates of stress, sleep problems, and poor emotion regulation (Dillenburger et al., 2010; Dillenburger et al., 2012; Keen et al., 2015; McDougal et al., 2020). In a review by Hoover and Kaufman (2018), the literature suggests children with ASD are up to four times more likely to experience victimization and bullying than their non-disabled peers. Moreover, their study also found these children are at risk for other psychiatric health problems such as mood disorders (i.e., depression) and anxiety disorders (Generalized Anxiety Disorder and even Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in cases where the child experienced extreme physical peer victimization). Children with ASD are also disadvantaged in terms of educational outcomes, as reported in a literature review by Keen and colleagues (2015). Academic achievement is generally poor for children with ASD, due in part to deficits in attention which is an important

mechanism that modulates their ability to reach their academic potential (Keen et al., 2015; McDougal et al., 2020). ASD may also impede the quality of life for these children. For example, children with ASD are more likely to have issues related to sleep, conduct disorder problems, aggression, general stress, and emotion regulation problems (Dillenburger et al., 2012; Dillenburger et al., 2010). Correlational studies have also found that children with ASD are more likely to have gastrointestinal health problems (Chaidez et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2011).

An Intersectional Approach

For members of marginalized communities (i.e., racial and ethnic minorities), these inequities are more pronounced (Magana et al., 2013). The process of seeking and accessing appropriate supports for their children can be difficult due to ubiquitous systemic barriers. These obstacles may be exacerbated by language barriers and cultural differences (Kang-Yi et al., 2018; Sritharan & Koola, 2019). For example, cultural taboos or negative attitudes (i.e., stigma) towards having a child with ASD will impact caregivers' willingness to have their child assessed by a professional, as well as seek the proper supports (Kang-Yi et al., 2018; Sritharan & Koola, 2019). Taken together, racial and ethnic minority families who have a child with ASD may be disproportionately affected by systemic and cultural barriers, making it difficult for their child to receive the proper resources they require. As is the case for neurodevelopmental disabilities at large, early and consistent intervention is crucial. In the face of these systemic barriers, the process by which children seek, access, and benefit from specialized care may therefore become delayed or halted altogether. These pitfalls may prevent children with ASD from attaining critical educational and developmental milestones. Thus, the rationale for this thesis project is to equip families from racial, cultural, and ethnic minority groups with increased self-efficacy and perceived self-competence through a parent training intervention. At the macro-level, there are

several shortcomings from the government and policymakers that address the needs of these groups (Eriksson et al., 2018). However, much can be done in terms of groundwork so that parents can feel confident in their ability to oversee the provision of their children's care.

Literature Review

Theoretical Frameworks

Bronfenbrenner's Bioecological Model

Bronfenbrenner's seminal theory for human development, originally titled the Ecological Systems Theory, is a framework for understanding development within the context of the child's broader ecology (Hayes et al., 2017). This entails studying children across multiple contexts and systems to comprehensively and thoroughly contextualize their developmental trajectory. It is essentially important to maintain that, while the child is impacted by these unique yet interrelated systems, they also impact individuals and systems within their proximal ecology.

Despite the impact and implications for Bronfenbrenner's early model, many critiques emerged as outlined by Elliot and Davis (2018). Firstly, the ecological model largely ignores human-nature interconnections by failing to recognize it as a bidirectional transaction. While the individual may be impacted by their environment, one cannot ignore that the individual may also impact their environment and the individuals within the environment's social network. Another critique is that the ecological model was too anthropocentric (Elliot & Davis, 2018). While many of the core tenants of anthropocentrism (e.g., improving human welfare) represent a noble objective, it positions humankind as the most central element of existence. Moreover, an anthropocentric lens to conceptualizing development would have been at odds with the popular post-humanist lens, an emerging school of thinking (Elliot & Davis, 2018). Post-humanism has had profound implications for the way development is studied, as it frames the human condition

within the broader context of their environment. Thus, in 1983 Bronfenbrenner amended his theory to include the concept of the person (i.e., interpersonal variation, individual characteristics, attitudes, beliefs, behaviour) to propose what is now known as the Bioecological Model. This transition has resulted in a more complex, dynamic, and robust framework for understanding development in the current contemporary context.

The Bioecological Model encompasses multiple levels of the environment such as family, culture, laws and customs, school, mass media, government, and sociohistorical events (e.g., war, pandemic, living under a dictatorship) (Hayes et al., 2017; Elliot & Davis, 2018). The interaction between levels and the child interacts bidirectionally to modulate developmental and educational outcomes. The ecological model comprises five different levels: the microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and the chronosystem.

The Microsystem and Mesosystem. The microsystem comprises individuals within the child's proximal social ecology such as family members (e.g., caregivers, siblings, extended family), teachers, friends, and classmates. Those within this social network may play an integral role in shaping the child which may modulate the attainment of certain developmental, educational, and psychological milestones. For example, in a recent study by Campos et al. (2020) 114 children were recruited from a low-income neighbourhood and the quality of their home environment (i.e., quality of housing, degree of household chaos, and the school environment), levels of stress, educational quality as measured by classroom environment, and executive functioning (i.e., decision making and planning ability) was assessed. The results yielded suggest that environmental quality at the microlevel plays a critical role in modulating stress and executive functioning performance. When children had poorer environmental quality, they were likely to report greater stress levels and poorer executive functioning ability.

Conversely, children with nurturing relationships with their caregivers were more likely to attain critical developmental milestones and observe higher levels of well-being.

The importance of the role individuals play within the child's proximal ecology is particularly concerning when considering the contemporary COVID-19 context (Zhang, 2022). Household chaos is a family environment characterized as overcrowded and noisy, as well as deficient in both order and routine which may precede the onset of mental health problems for caregivers and their children. Research shows that 'household chaos' disproportionately affects racial and ethnic minority families. Most notably, depression has steadily increased among ethnic/racial minority families since the beginning of the pandemic. For young children, growing up in this environment has drastic implications for behaviour. These children are more likely to exhibit externalizing behaviours (e.g., acting out) and internalizing behaviours (e.g., depression, fearfulness, social withdrawal). The degree of household income determines ones' SES, whereby income loss due to the pandemic's impact on employment predicts higher levels of household chaos. Thus, taken together it is quite clear that the child's caregivers and home environment has dramatic implications for human development.

It is paramount to recognize that, while the child is affected by others, the relationship within the microsystem is largely bidirectional. The child will also influence the behaviour, beliefs, and attitudes of those around them (Hayes et al., 2017; Huang, 2013). Within the context of ASD, for example, children often have unique social skills that make it difficult to foster relationships with their classmates (Huang, 2013). For example, many children with ASD observe deficits in identifying and understanding the emotions of others through their facial expressions (Chasson & Jarosiewicz, 2014). These children may also have distinguishable nonverbal social impairments such as maintaining eye contact and appropriate gaze. Research by

Campbell and Barger (2014) finds that many of these children are therefore likely to become the target of peer victimization resulting in lower levels of social acceptance among school-age peers, poorer relationship quality as measured by frequency of social reciprocity, and fewer opportunities to establish companionship. These studies iterate that the child's own behaviours may elicit differential behaviours (i.e., bullying, victimization) from their peers, thus showing the bidirectional nature of relationships within the microsystem (Hayes et al., 2017).

The mesosystem links the microsystem to the exo-system through direct interaction (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). At this level, the focus is on the relationships between settings that contain individuals (e.g., relationships between home and school). The mesosystem is a conceptualization of social networks that explains how individuals begin to understand norms, behaviours, and expectations across settings by activating contacts within the system (Hayes et al., 2017; Newman, 2020). By participating in multiple settings, the child achieves cognitive complexity by attaining resources, participating in activities, and interacting with others (Newman 2020). The mesosystem is essential for individuals to construct oneself in terms of identity, expectations, and values. In interacting with a variety of patterns and expanding interpersonal relationships across the mesosystem, the individual becomes realized.

Within the context of ASD specifically, it is important to remember the child's own cognitive and social capacities will influence their behavioural patterns. Therefore, many interventions such as Applied Behaviour Analysis (ABA) are targeted at the individual level. The goal of these interventions is to support the child as they adjust to their external environment. Embedded within the microsystem and mesosystem is the child's family and, given the extent to which ASD may impact the family dynamic, it is critical to consider the bidirectional relationship between individuals within these systems (Bekhet et al., 2012; Hayes & Watson,

2013). Thus, while caregivers exert their influence over the child, the child's own behaviour (i.e., clinical symptomology) will also impact caregivers and siblings of children with ASD. As such, it is important to not only focus on providing support at the individual-level but also to those within the child's proximal social ecology (Eriksson et al., 2018; Newman, 2020).

The Exosystem. The exosystem reflects both formal and informal societal variables (e.g., government, the role of media, education system, etc.) (Hayes et al., 2017; Elliot & Davis, 2018). While the child is not contained within this system, they are directly influenced. For families of children with ASD, the types of services and educational policies is regulated at the government level (Eriksson et al., 2018; Nicholas et al., 2018). These policies are critical for ensuring that the child and their family's rights are protected and to provide the proper resources (e.g., facilities, services). This may entail providing financial compensation for families whose employment has been impacted by having a child with ASD or offering insurance premiums that include therapy (Nicholas et al., 2018; Predescu et al., 2018). Outside of the economic and clinical spheres, schools may also play an important role by providing educational support and specialized, differentiated instruction so these children are attaining key educational milestones (Eriksson et al., 2018; Predescu et al., 2018). This entails being equipped with the requisite infrastructure such as support staff (e.g., technicians, psychologists, counsellors), resources, teaching training, and open communication with parents to accommodate a breadth of diverse learners (Grigorenko et al., 2019; Reardon et al., 2021).

The Macrosystem. The macrosystem represents norms and values shared by the larger culture and the sub-cultures embedded within it (Hayes et al., 2017). By extension, the culture's constituents impact the individual who belongs to that culture. The history of autism, for example, highlights how cultural beliefs about neurodevelopmental disabilities impact the ways

children with these conditions are treated (Kirkham, 2017). Autism was once viewed as a 'disease' that is a by-product of poor parenting practices, or something innate within the child that can be 'trained' out of them with punitive measures (Dillenburger et al., 2010; Kirkham 2017). These cultural beliefs about ASD have resulted in the horrific maltreatment of children with special needs. Fortunately, the advocacy work of professionals, caregivers, and individuals with ASD has veered our understanding of ASD from a medical, brutalist perspective to a more inclusive and accepting attitude (Sandoval-Norton et al., 2021). This has had profound implications for these children. As new attitudes and beliefs about ASD have emerged to challenge antiquated preconceptions of this disorder, more services and supports across various sectors (e.g., family, educational, professional, governmental) have been provided to support these children.

The Chronosystem. Lastly, the chronosystem explains how environmental changes and sociohistorical events (e.g., war, famine, a pandemic, living under a dictatorship, etc.) may also shape development (Hayes et al., 2017). The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted many in terms of mental health outcomes, employment, and general well-being (Hwang et al., 2020; Mukhtar, 2020). These outcomes are particularly concerning when considering those with special needs at the margins who are often an underrepresented population in the discourse on the impact of the pandemic. Many services were moved to online platforms to be offered remotely which, as the literature suggests, is problematic as telehealth does not necessarily work for all (Costa et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2021; Ingersoll et al., 2017). In some cases, services to support those with ASD were suspended indefinitely to comply with government-mandated protocols to curb the spread of the COVID-19 virus (Costa et al., 2022; Lee et al., 2021). Thus, the pandemic has set back children with ASD and their families back tremendously (Lee et al.,

2021). This is especially concerning considering early intervention is crucial (Sone et al., 2021). With many services delayed or suspended indefinitely, it is likely many young children at the height of the pandemic were not being diagnosed or given therapeutic interventions in a timely, consistent manner.

For families of children during the pandemic, their employment prospects were affected in two ways (Craig & Churchill, 2020; Woolbridge et al., 2021). Firstly, many parents lost their jobs during the pandemic which created a tremendous degree of household instability (Clark et al., 2021; Farre et al., 2021). Moreover, income loss and poverty are significant predictors of a myriad of adverse outcomes such as higher levels of stress, lower levels of social security, and fewer opportunities to access resources (Archibong et al., 2021; Holmes et al., 2020). With literature showing that providing for a child with ASD may be a costly endeavour (Lavelle et al., 2014), it is especially critical to consider how caregivers of these children who have reported income loss have been impacted. The second way the pandemic has affected employment is by transitioning to a work-from-home format (Craig & Churchill, 2020; Woolbridge et al., 2021). This presented many unique challenges, as parents were required to not only meet their professional obligations but to now oversee the provision of their children's care and education at home. For children with special needs, access to school also means access to services, technicians, and support staff that will help support the child. In the absence of these vital resources, many parents have found themselves overworked as they attempt to support their children while working from home (Costa et al., 2022; Craig & Churchill, 2020).

Family Systems Theory

Family systems theory (FST) aims to understand the human experience within the broader context of the family dynamic (Priest, 2021). This framework posits that the family

context plays a critical role in shaping individuals. The theory is derived from three distinct yet interrelated epistemologies (Brown, 1999; Umberson & Thomeer, 2020). Firstly, the emotional system which allows the individual to integrate and respond to their environment. Secondly, the feeling system which refers to the specific labels ascribed to internal states (e.g., guilt, sadness, shame, etc.). Lastly, the intellectual system which refers to individuals' propensity to know and understand phenomenon. FST suggests that the underlying epistemologies that explain the individual's behaviour do not occur in a vacuum, but are instead attenuated by the family context. This includes individuals within the family unit, the context the family is embedded within, and interactions of people between families (Priest, 2021; Schermerhorn & Cummings, 2008). As suggested by Smith (2016), the underlying core tenant of FST is that the sequence of interactions that occurs between family members reveal a great deal about human behaviour and development. Thus, in terms of its clinical implications a FST lens posits the family should be regarded as a singular causative system containing an intricate web of complementary communication in which the nature of the interaction is reinforced. It is then critical to consider the rules within such a system that govern the overall family ecology. It is therefore the job of clinicians to understand these 'rules' so that they can have a better understanding of the family's functioning holistically (Johnson & Ray, 2016). Additionally, patterns of interactions embedded within the family are important to consider. Targeting maladaptive behaviours and interactions may then attenuate negative outcomes and thus promote the strengthening of the family unit overall. Taken together, the interactions between members of the family are especially crucial to understand why individuals display certain emotions or behave the way they do.

Family Systems Theory has well-documented applications for the family with the core goal of strengthening the family unit. For example, FST has informed interventions that decrease

marital distress, depression, and promote adaptive functioning (e.g., coping with a chronic illness) (Cridland et al., 2014; Priest, 2021). With respect to ASD specifically, FST has also been found to support children with ASD and their families (Cridland et al., 2014). The existing literature overwhelmingly finds providing supports for families of children with ASD yields positive benefits such as improved psychological and emotional functioning, improved communication skills, and higher rates of both empathy and patience (Cridland et al., 2014).

Despite its novelty, FST's success as a lens to inform clinical intervention is promising as it hinges on several underlying mechanisms that characterize effective clinical intervention: ambiguous loss, resilience boundaries, and traumatic growth (Bradford, 2010). Ambiguous loss encompasses a change in one's psychological state. In considering ASD, for example, this may refer to how the brunt of caring for a child with ASD can incur mental health tolls for parents (e.g., fatigue, anxiety) and siblings (e.g., low self-esteem, perceived loneliness). Resilience refers to one's ability to circumvent and work through challenges (e.g., physical, emotional, social, and psychological in nature). Thus, many interventions aim to bolster the family's resilience so that they feel competent and empowered to work through some of the challenges that may accompany caring for a child with ASD. Boundaries are conceptualized borders that define the family in relation to other systems. Lastly, traumatic growth refers to the process by which coping with trauma leads to positive change (e.g., personal strength, family solidarity, improved relationship quality). Families who face trials and learn to overcome these obstacles may observe positive benefits which improves the well-being of the family unit (Banda, 2015; Shivers & Plavnick, 2015). For parents who participate in clinical interventions and workshops related to ASD, many report increased knowledge about ASD, greater perceived emotional support,

stronger response to grief, improved family capacity, and improved acceptance and appreciation for the family's situation (Bradford, 2010; Cridland et al., 2014; Samios et al., 2012).

From an FST lens, therapy can also integrate members of the family into the child's therapy plan (Wright et al., 2019). For example, involving siblings in the treatment of the child's ASD yields positive results (Banda, 2015; Shivers & Plavnick, 2015). This entails making the TD sibling the co-recipient of the intervention or making the TD sibling the target of the intervention (Shivers & Plavnick, 2015). There are several benefits to doing this, such as improving functional communication and fostering optimal social communication skills between siblings. To a large extent, the success of this approach can be attributed to the notion of horizontalization (Finke, 2016). This means putting TD children and their sibling with ASD in comparable roles (i.e., the agent of therapy) creating equal status and fosters egalitarianism.

Research has also found that integrating parents into the child's intervention plan yields positive results, as doing so leverages caregivers as the primary agents of change, which hinges on a transactional model of development (Brian et al., 2022; Sone et al., 2021). This means that, as parents become acclimated with the process of therapy, they can transition to parent-delivered modalities of treatment at home. This may yield several benefits such as allowing therapy to occur in a naturalistic context, improving parent-child interactions (i.e., parental synchrony), and ultimately leads to improved self-efficacy and empowerment (Tomeny et al., 2020). An added benefit of parent-led therapy in the home is that it also promotes healthy patterns of social interaction, which may facilitate social cohesion by increasing family time and promotes togetherness outside of the context of therapy (Boyd et al., 2014).

Taken together, both Bronfenbrenner's Bioecological Model of development and Family Systems Theory show the extent to which the family context is critical to support children

(Hayes et al., 2017; Johnson & Ray, 2016; Thomson & Priest, 2016). The role of contextualized family care in particular represents an opportunity to support families of children with ASD (Priest, 2021; Thomson & Priest, 2016). This may not only help to ensure optimal development for the child, but may strengthen the overall family unit which may mitigate the potential negative outcomes that have been associated with having a child with ASD.

Impact of ASD on the family

Parents

Given the life-long, pervasive nature of ASD, many parents experience unique challenges as caregivers that persist throughout the lifespan (DeGrace et al., 2004; DePape & Lindsay, 2015). The root of parental stress is largely due to the adjustment period between the initial ASD diagnosis and the point where families can settle into a routine. For example, literature shows that parental stress and frustration is highest after the initial diagnoses (Aylaz et al., 2012; DeGrace et al., 2004). Many parents felt overwhelmed by the increased demands to support their children and decreased time they had for both themselves and other family members in the home. Additionally, many parents did not have the requisite knowledge to understand the child's behaviour and could not predict certain triggers that elicit tantrums (Aylaz et al., 2012; DeGrace et al., 2004; DePape & Lindsay, 2015). For example, children with ASD are typically sensitive to changes in routine (Ludlow et al., 2011). Additionally, these children may also have sensory issues that can trigger outbursts (DePape & Lindsay, 2015). Being unable to accurately identify, assess, and act to support their children is distressing and may leave parents feeling incompetent in their ability to oversee the provision of childcare and symptom management (Aylaz et al., 2012; DePape & Lindsay, 2015). A scoping review by Lee et al. (2021) has also found that

caregivers of children with ASD experienced heightened levels of stress due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic which may incur long-term consequences for both the child and family.

The literature suggests that ill-equipped parents caring for a child with ASD for the first time may observe adverse mental health outcomes (DePape & Lindsay, 2015; Fletcher et al., 2012). Parents of children with ASD were more likely to report feeling exhaustion and stress, with some going on to suffer stress-related health problems such as high blood pressure (Altiere & Von Kluge, 2009). Many parents also lacked the requisite coping mechanisms to manage their new role as caregivers of children with ASD. For example, a study by Fletcher et al. (2012) found that some parents turned to medication while others spiralled further into feelings of selfdoubt. A common thread across the literature discussed is that feeling stressed with the workload required to care for a child with ASD often led to negative self-appraisals of parental competence and ability, with many parents beginning to view themselves as inadequate (DePape & Lindsay, 2015). In some cases, this internal dialogue may manifest as resentment towards the child. For example, a study by Tomiyama et al. (2018) found that mothers of children with ASD between 5- to 8-years old were more likely to view their child less positively than mothers of typicallydeveloping children. However, it must be noted that these effects were mediated by mothers' existing knowledge of ASD. Mothers who understood ASD were less likely to have unfavourable perceptions of their child than mothers who did not. Regardless, these findings are especially concerning when considering that social interactions between mother-child dyads is important for the development of the 'social mind' of the child (Tomiyama et al., 2018). If children's social capacity is low, they are at a significantly higher risk of later behavioral and developmental disorders. Recent research has also shown that negative mother-child social

interactions may result in aversive child behaviour that puts these children at risk for later adjustment and regulatory problems (Moed et al., 2017).

Caring for a child can either bring couples closer or, in severe cases, fragment the relationship to the point of divorce (Aylaz et al., 2012; Meirscchaut et al., 2010). The dissolution of the family unit in these instances, is largely attributed to mothers feeling resentful that their partner did not provide enough support, speaking to the time- and resource-intensive nature of caring for a child with ASD (DePape. & Lindsay, 2015; Luong et al., 2009). In extreme cases where parental knowledge of ASD is especially low, resentment and strain between parents was harboured when one accused the other for causing the child's diagnosis (Fletcher et al., 2012).

However, literature has shown that as parents settle into their newfound roles as caregivers for a child with special needs, many of the aforementioned outcomes dissipate (Van Esch et al., 2018). This is likely because parents become more attuned to their needs and feel more competent in their ability to support their children. In a study by Van Esch et al. (2018), mother-adolescent interactions were observed to compare differences between parents of children with ASD and typically-developing children. The findings from the self-reported questionnaire revealed that mothers of children with ASD were more adaptable compared to the control group. Moreover, during observations of mother-adolescent interactions, the findings also show that mothers in the ASD group exhibited more creativity and sensitivity to the needs of their children. Thus, while the transition period is markedly arduous, parents eventually achieve a level of competence and adaptability that may alleviate their previous hardships.

Siblings

Siblings of children with ASD may also be impacted in unique ways (Smith & McQuade, 2021). These relationships are also especially critical since positive sibling relationships are

associated with sibling involvement in later life (Burke et al., 2016). Given that ASD is a lifelong disorder, fostering strong sibling relationships ensures support for the individual with ASD in adulthood. However, siblings of children with ASD often face a myriad of adverse outcomes. For example, the literature shows that parents have differential treatment between children with ASD and their siblings whereby the former receives more attention (Aylaz et al., 2012; Divan et al., 2012). This has resulted in many siblings of children ASD feeling neglected and underappreciated because their parents invest much of their time elsewhere. Additionally, research by Shivers et al. (2019) has found these siblings are more likely to exhibit higher rates of internalizing behaviour, poorer psychological and social functioning, and they held more negative beliefs about disability compared to groups of siblings of typically-developing children. The beliefs siblings held about disability were more negative; they were more likely to view people with disabilities as aggressive and incomprehensive, as well as view them as a hindrance to their family. Similarly, Smith and McQuade (2021) also report that siblings of children with autism experience internalizing behavioural problems at higher rates than siblings of typically developing children. These siblings are also more likely to feel forgotten and have trouble fitting into the family because their sibling with ASD is typically the focal point of parental attention.

However in some cases, having a sibling with ASD yielded positive benefits. For example, a study by Markoulakis et al. (2010) found that siblings of children with ASD assisted their parents with caring for their sibling and as a result, developed increased patience and maturity. Taken together, having a sibling with autism presents unique challenges but it also has the propensity to create a nurturing positive relationship between siblings bolstered by love and affection, as well as an appreciation for the unique interests and qualities their sibling with ASD has (Smith & McQuade, 2021; Leedham et al., 2020).

Family Income and Resources

One of the most pervasive barriers to healthcare and social services is cost (Lavelle et al., 2014). There are two mechanisms that reinforce socioeconomic and financial barriers, which ultimately disparage caregivers and parents of children with ASD. Firstly, the exorbitant costs of therapeutic and medical services that having a child with ASD may require (Lavelle et al., 2014). Secondly, parents of children with ASD report lower income, likely due in part to the fact that caring for a child with ASD can negatively impact parental employment opportunities (Houser et al., 2014; Montes & Halterman, 2008).

Research by Lavelle et al. (2014) aimed to produce estimates of cost outcomes, service use, and caregiver time associated with ASD in children between 3-17 years old in the United States. Data was gathered from national data sets (National Health Interview Survey and the Medical Expenditure Panel Survey). The researchers also used a measure created specifically for the study to measure healthcare costs, school-service use, family-coordinated services, therapy use, and caregiver time. Based on the analyses in this study, the average cost of supporting one child with ASD is \$17,081 USD per year. To iterate the magnitude of this issue, the researchers applied this statistic to the estimated 673,000 children in the United States with ASD in 2011, which totals \$11.5 billion USD. With the rates of ASD steadily increasing, this figure is likely much larger in present day time (Maenner et al., 2020). In terms of cost breakdown, school services incurred the greatest costs for families, although healthcare services (e.g., doctor visits, therapy, etc.) and caregiving costs also had exorbitant costs (Lavelle et al., 2014). These findings suggest caregivers are more likely to spend more money on children with ASD to support their needs, well-being, and general development compared to caregivers of typically developing children. A similar pattern has been found in other countries, instilling greater confidence in the

validity of these findings (Lavelle et al., 2014). For example, in the U.K. and Sweden the average cost of caring for a child with ASD is approximately \$44,063 USD and \$68,000 USD respectively. Thus, this evidence suggests that the crude costs incurred to support children with ASD is a pervasive barrier for caregivers and parents. Research has also shown financial costs are worsened by reduced employment opportunities and income loss (Montes & Halterman, 2008). Even when controlling for extraneous variables (e.g., parental level of education, ethnicity, etc.), parents of children with ASD reported an average loss of annual income of 14%. Thus, parents not only have to spend more money to support their children with ASD, but also make less money on average (Lavelle et al, 2014; Montes & Halterman, 2008).

To understand why parents of children with ASD earn less money than parents of typically developing children, Houser et al. (2014) sought to identify the specific obstacles caregivers of children with ASD face that affect their employment opportunities. Using a phenomenological study design, 37 children with ASD and their parents were recruited for this study. Interviews were conducted and families were followed up at 3- and 9-month intervals. In addition to sociodemographic information, parents were asked about the types of supports and social services they used for their children, some of the barriers to care they experienced, and what challenges they face with respect to employment and childcare arrangements. From the data collected, several response patterns emerged. Firstly, most parents reported having to adapt their work schedule to reduce the amount of time their children spent in nonparental care (i.e., daycares). They also had to alter their schedule to account for the time-consuming, variable nature of therapy. Secondly, nearly a quarter of parents reported having to miss work, with some having to miss up to 36 days in a year. A small percentage of respondents also noted that they quit work or dropped out of their school program after their child's diagnosis because the

balance between work and arranging for suitable care was too difficult to manage. These parents also felt they had less support from extended family. This was a result of family members feeling overwhelmed or ill-suited to provide childcare for children with ASD, largely due to behavioural challenges that accompany this disorder. Parents felt uncomfortable leaving their children with caregivers because they did not feel they had the requisite skillset and professional competence to care for children with ASD. The most concerning finding is that the majority of parents viewed caring for children with ASD as a full-time job, with many feeling frustrated by having to complete demanding (yet unpaid) work. Taken together, some of the central issues to emerge are that families affected by ASD report employment problems because of how difficult it is to find appropriate and stable childcare. They also reported financial stress, difficulty accessing (i.e., incurring costs, scheduling, maintaining) services, and family stress in comparison to families of typically developing children. A limitation from Houser et al.'s (2014) study is that participants were only recruited from two service providers in an urban city center. As such, participants were predominantly middle- and upper- socioeconomic status and White. On the other hand, this highlights that families in more privileged circumstances (in terms of socioeconomic status and race) still struggle immensely with balancing employment and childcare for children with ASD. This brings into question how marginalized populations (e.g., ethnic and racial minorities) fare in terms of navigating these barriers.

An Intersectional Perspective

Navigating Systemic Barriers

Children with ASD who belong to racial or ethnic minority groups are negatively impacted by systemic barriers in several ways. Firstly, non-White children are more likely to be diagnosed with ASD at significantly later ages compared to their White counterparts (Lopez et al., 2020;

Mandall et al., 2002; Stahmer et al., 2019). Secondly, research has shown issues of accessibility and subpar care are further exacerbated by language barriers (St. Amant et al., 2017; Stahmer et al., 2019; Timmins, 2002). Lastly, the current medical framework does not account for cultural differences, thus ignoring the group-specific needs of racial and ethnic minority groups (Sritharan & Koola, 2019; Stahmer et al., 2019).

To maximally benefit children with ASD, early intervention is crucial (Wallace & Rogers, 2010). However, several studies in the United States have found children from racial and ethnic minority groups are likely to be diagnosed considerably later than their White counterparts (Lopez et al., 2020; Mandall et al., 2002). Magana et al. (2013) explored this issue further in their study in which they aimed to find differences between White and Latinx children regarding age diagnosed and parental attitudes towards accessibility (Magana et al., 2013). Forty-seven Latina mothers of children diagnosed with ASD between ages 2 and 22 were recruited for the study. They were given the Autism Diagnostic Interview to measure treatment satisfaction, attitudes towards accessibility, and parental stress levels. Consistent with previous findings, Magana et al. (2013) found that Latino children with ASD are diagnosed later (i.e., one year) than White children. Additionally, Latino immigrant caregivers report fewer options and resources to obtain a second opinion when diagnosing their child. Compared to White middleclass caregivers, Latino parents have reduced access to resources (e.g., Internet, books) and are unable to afford services from specialty clinicians. In terms of service use, the researchers reported two findings. Firstly, Latinx children received fewer services. Additionally, the services they did access were not sufficient to meet their needs compared to non-Latino White children (i.e., caregivers were dissatisfied with the quality of services provided). The study had a few methodological flaws. Participants were recruited on a volunteer basis and the researchers were

unable to determine whether the effects were due to ethnicity or level of parental education. Additionally, Latina mothers were given in-person interviews while White mothers answered via mail-in survey, thus leading to a potential effect of differences in response. Lastly, the sample consisted of Mexican and Puerto Rican mothers, which does not represent all Latinx groups. Despite these limitations, the findings from this article have appeared in other studies from the emerging literature on this topic. For example, Lopez et al. (2020) also found Latinx children (and other minority groups) were diagnosed later and had less access to resources (i.e., social service programs, treatments, etc.) compared to their White counterparts (Lopez et al., 2020). There are several mechanisms driving this effect (e.g., socioeconomic status, neighbourhood), but one of the most salient effects is that of language barriers (Lopez et al., 2020; Stahmer et al., 2019; Timmins, 2002). While these studies were conducted in the United States, it is reasonable to expect a similar pattern in Canada. Recent literature has shown that Anglophones and nonofficial language speakers (i.e., individuals whose language is not English or French) are less likely to access medical services (Ngwakongnw et al., 2012). This effect has become especially pronounced during the COVID-19 pandemic as the literature shows an imbalance exists in the ratio of physicians to non-official language speakers (Ariste & Matteo, 2021). At present, there is an alarming paucity of research exploring whether disparities in service-seeking for parents of children with ASD among non-official language speakers exists. However, based on the discrepancies that exist in the Canadian medical system at large (Ariste & Mateo, 2021; Ngwakongnw et al., 2012), it is reasonable to expect a similar phenomenon to the US studies (Lopez et al., 2020; Stahmer et al., 2019; Timmins, 2002).

Language Minority Groups

The effect of race and ethnicity on access to healthcare-related services may be worsened by language barriers (Stahmer et al., 2019; Timmins, 2002). Since Timmins (2002) published one of the first studies suggesting language barriers are a prominent barrier to healthcare, and a breadth of literature investigating this issue has emerged. Within the context of ASD, Stahmer et al. (2019) explored cross-cultural disparities in accessing autism services. Qualitative data was gathered from focus groups and interviews with 58 caregivers of children with ASD. These caregivers belong to diverse ethnic groups (e.g., Latino, Black, and Korean), and approximately half spoke English. Fifty-five service providers and administrators who specialized in ASD (e.g., educators, pediatricians, speech pathologists, etc.) were interviewed. A persistent theme that emerged across providers' and caregivers' responses was that language barriers were still a ubiquitous impediment to accessing services and information (Stahmer et al., 2019). Many caregivers were not bilingual or proficient enough in English to communicate with their child's therapist. Additionally, the research has shown an alarming absence of bilingual service providers equipped to work with English as a Second Language (ESL) speakers. This has resulted in delayed diagnosis and access to services that are crucial for supporting children with ASD. Additionally, when caregivers had concerns or felt the services provided were inappropriate, they reported feeling helpless because they did not have the language skills to advocate for their child. Thus, the findings support the notion that language barriers manifest in inadequate healthcare. For example, practitioners are more likely to dismiss developmental concerns of language delay in children who belong to a non-English speaking family. Taken together, language barriers harm children with ASD and their families by delaying diagnoses and subsequent access to essential services, as well as negatively impacting the quality of care they

receive (Stahmer et al., 2019). The study also had a few limitations; participants were recruited from four sites and only three prominent ethnic groups were considered in the analysis. However, the themes to emerge from this study are consistent with the broader literature. As reported by St. Amant et al. (2017), social skills and communication improvement were overrepresented in the child's individualized education plan (IEP) suggesting that language can also impact the diagnosis and treatment plan of ESL children. In addition to language, cultural differences have also been found to produce the same effects (Kang-Yi et al., 2018).

Cultural Attitudes: Taboos, Attitudes, and Beliefs

The issue of race and ethnicity is further exacerbated by cultural differences, as explored in an article by Kang-Yi et al. (2018). Using a qualitative study design, the researchers' objective was to understand how differences in community (i.e., cultural beliefs) impact how children with ASD receive care in immigrant communities (Kang-Yi et al., 2018). Through snowball sampling, members of the Korean-American community in New York City were recruited. These members included youth workers and members of churches (e.g., pastors, leaders, staff). Semi-structured interviews between 45 to 60 minutes were conducted, transcribed, and analyzed for patterns of response. The findings suggest that members within different cultural communities have their own beliefs about autism, that in turn influence the type of support they receive. For example, parents believed ASD is caused by poor parenting, poor attachment, pregnancy complications, and low parental intelligence (Kang-Yi et al., 2018). The presumption that abusive or poor caregiving leads to ASD has resulted in many Korean children being misdiagnosed as having Reactive Attachment Disorder. The stigma associated with ASD is due in part to the absence of disclosure, openness, and accessible resources to explain child education, development, and parenting. The participants noted that it is difficult to get informed (i.e., attend parenting

seminars, learning developmental milestones, visiting early childcare centers) because many Korean parents are required to work long hours. The researchers also highlighted a paucity of specialized strategies to educate and support members within immigrant communities, thus reinforcing systemic barriers to proper care. Despite the study's limitations (e.g., small sample size, few demographic characteristics, etc.), the findings from this article are consistent with the broader literature. Sritharan and Koola (2019) reported the same narrative; cultural beliefs about ASD may act as a barrier that manifests as delayed or inaccurate diagnosis, negative perceptions of ASD and negative perceptions of healthcare and social services.

Contextualized Family Care: Family-Based Interventions

Despite many of the barriers that disparage families of children with ASD, there are many possible avenues for professionals, clinicians, educators, and advocates alike to intervene (Mazzoni et al., 2018). One of the most salient yet effective ways to support these families is through initiatives that aim to educate, empower, and support families as they learn to ensure they are meeting the needs of their children (Mazzoni et al., 2018; Prendeville & Kinsella, 2019). Family-based interventions may comprise clinical interventions, but they can also include informal supports (e.g., workshops, psychoeducation) (Mazzoni et al., 2018) and learning to work with key members within the child's proximal ecology (e.g., educators) (Azad et al., 2018).

Parent Training

Parent training has demonstrated consistent efficacy and continues to show 'informal' strategies to mitigate the potential impact of having a child with ASD are promising (Mazzoni et al., 2018; Prendeville & Kinsella, 2019). Many of these strategies are centered around educating parents and equipping them with the requisite skills to support their children (Mazzoni et al., 2018). As reported by Begum and Mamin (2019), many caregivers attribute their distress to

disruptions in their daily routine and having to adjust their lifestyle to accommodate the needs of their children. Thus, if parents are equipped with the skills to feel competent and empowered when caring for their children with ASD, many of these negative emotions may be alleviated. Additionally, the distress experienced by parents is often due to disruptions in the family's routine (DeGrace, 2004; Durán-Pacheco et al., 2022). For example, disturbances in the child's sleep schedule, whereby caregivers of children with ASD who have difficulty sleeping reported increased strain, further contributing to a destabilized home environment. At present, it must be noted that there is a paucity of research demonstrating evidence-based interventions that target improving children with ASD's sleep quality specifically (Durán-Pacheco et al., 2022). Outside of the context of sleep, there are other informal supports parents can utilize to establish routines and, by extension, foster family togetherness in other areas of the home. For example, informal supports in the form of education, parental coaching, and improving knowledge of their children's symptoms are effective strategies to mobilize caregivers (Wallace & Rogers, 2010). This entails teaching parents how to establish routines and foster naturalistic opportunities for social interaction, which has a protective function for family cohesion (Boyd et al., 2014). Naturalistic opportunities for social interaction are especially critical, as they decentralize the child's disorder which creates a sense of normalcy within the family unit (Boyd et al., 2014). Establishing routines is merely one type of strategy Another effective mitigation technique that can be used is parent coaching (Brian et al., 2022; Little et al., 2018; Wallace & Rogers, 2010).

Parent coaching consists of training parents to be more responsive and sensitive to the specific needs of their children with ASD (Brian et al., 2022; Little et al., 2018; Wallace & Rogers, 2010). It educates parents on how to understand the behaviours of their children with ASD by becoming acclimated to the specific characteristics and behavioural cues that the child

frequently exhibits (Little et al., 2018). Parents who undergo this form of coaching are not only better at identifying the needs of the child with greater accuracy, but they are therefore more likely to respond appropriately (Little et al., 2018). Parent coaching can also include functional communication training (Moes & Frea, 2002). This entails training parents to foster optimal communication in the parent-child dyad, which may reduce challenging behaviours (Moes & Frea, 2002). One of the ways this is achieved is by teaching the child how to communicate their needs. This ensures that their needs are being sufficiently met, as well as grants the child a sense of autonomy by enabling them to represent themselves (Moes & Frea, 2002; Little et al., 2018). Being attuned to the needs of children with ASD as early as infancy is particularly critical for parents, as early intervention for ASD typically precludes better long-term developmental outcomes (Wallace & Rogers, 2010). As parents become confident in their ability to support their children, they can transition to accessing telehealth services remotely which not only improves accessibility, but also grants them greater flexibility in their schedule as time-intensive commutes are eliminated (Ingersoll et al., 2017; Little et al., 2018). This allows professionals (e.g., occupational therapists, speech pathologists) to provide education and coaching to parents in remote areas (Little et al., 2018). Given the present COVID-19 pandemic, this also represents an opportunity to reach caregivers during government-mandated quarantines where on-site services have been suspended to prevent the spread of the virus (Alhoumaizi et al., 2021). However, it must be noted that telehealth does not necessarily work for all families, and access to technological resources is still regarded as a luxury in some areas of North America (Ingersoll et al., 2017). Thus, the success of telehealth is largely contingent on the family's circumstances.

The research also supports the notion that family coordination is a critical skill (Mazzoni et al., 2018). Examples of strategies to improve family coordination include joint focalization,

equal participation of all members of the family, and organization (Little et al., 2018). Joint focalization refers to organized activities that the family can participate in to improve affect sharing their feelings (Favez et al., 2017). While this is intended to improve communication, an added benefit is that it also promotes empathy and perspective-taking between family members (Favez et al., 2017). It is also important to ensure that these activities are not centred solely around therapy or intervention strategies so that the child's disorder is decentralized when appropriate (Smith & McQuade, 2021). Equal participation of all members of the family unit refers to delegating tasks and caregiving responsibilities to ensure that one sole caregiver does not assume the brunt of caregiving responsibilities and work (Begum & Mamin, 2018; Mazzoni et al., 2018). This is an important aspect of family coordination, as disruptions in coparenting and unequal provision of childcare can be additional risk factors for marital stress and general household disharmony (Mazzoni et al., 2018). While there is a paucity of research explaining why these associations exist, it is speculated that there are differences in how mothers and fathers support their children with ASD (Griffith et al., 2015; Mazzoni et al., 2018; Taylor & Warren, 2012). For example, fathers tend to focus more on the child's performance and attainment of both developmental and educational milestones, while mothers focus more on fostering a positive emotional environment (Mazzoni et al., 2018; Taylor & Warren, 2012). Thus, parents must work together to reconcile their differences to ensure the child's welfare takes precedence.

Collaborating With Educators

In addition to working directly with families, a goal of interventions should be to bridge the gap between the home life and school to support the child and work towards building a more inclusive community (Azad et al., 2018; Pellicano et al., 2014). Existing literature suggests that parents and teachers have fragmented communication when it comes to supporting children with

ASD (Azad et al., 2018). Despite many teachers valuing feedback and input from parents, parents attributed their lack of involvement to feeling insecure in their level of expertise and lack confidence (Azad et al., 2018; Simpson et al., 2017). Despite feeling inept, parents should continue to strive to be active agents in their children's education as doing so will yield many positive benefits (Azad et al., 2018; Kurth et al., 2018). In addition to psychoeducation, parent training, and attending workshops to learn about ASD, parents can also participate in their child's Individualized Education Program (IEP). IEPs consist of a multidisciplinary team of professionals (e.g., educators, psychologists, therapists) whose aim is to assess the child's scholastic achievement, develop goals, evaluate progress, recommend specially designed instruction and accommodations if necessary, and make adjustments as the child progresses (Kurth et al., 2018; Ruble et al., 2010). Establishing an effective IEP where all parties can deliberate the best possible strategy to support the child has been associated with positive outcomes. For example, in a study by Kurth et al. (2018), several predictors of parental satisfaction with the child's IEP were identified. In general, parents who had a greater input in their child's education and greater perceived support from school personnel were more likely to report satisfaction with their child's school experience. It is therefore critical that parents oversee the provision of their children's not just at home, but in other settings as well. However, it also important to mention that parents in the study shared some of the barriers that impeded their ability to work with schools and the school system at large, thus requiring them to seek privatized care. For example, some schools do not use existing resources to offer inclusive programs or to hire personnel that will support the child's learning objectives. Additionally, parents may not have the time to make meaningful contributions to their children's IEP or maintain consistent correspondence with the child's educators due to professional work

obligations. Thus, while parents could be encouraged to get more involved in their child's IEP and education to support their children's attainment of developmental and educational goals, this is not plausible for all families (Azad et al., 2018; Kurth et al., 2018; Ruble et al., 2010).

Outside of the school environment, parents access and participate in more communitybased activities (Smith & McQuade, 2021). Existing literature shows that parents of children with ASD often feel overwhelmed when planning activities for their children due to the timeintensive nature of preparing for these activities (Galpin et al., 2018; Smith & McQuade, 2021). For example, children with ASD may report deficits in self-care skills, diet, and communication which requires parents to make additional accommodations to ensure the optional environment and activity for their child (Smith & McQuade, 2021). Additionally, these environments can sometimes become too overstimulating which results in outbursts that may ostracize the child and their parents from the rest of the community (Zapata-Fronseca, 2018). As a result, some parents become withdrawn out of fear of being scrutinized. Parents who become disengaged from their community due to parental anxiety that stems from others' perceptions of them are ultimately doing a disservice to the child and broader family context (Galpin et al., 2018; Smith & McQuade, 2021). For example, studies have shown that parents who are inhibited by the pressure of accommodating their children with ASD can become socially withdrawn from the community at large (i.e., parents who centralize their children's condition) are less adaptable, inflexible, and are less likely to participate in spontaneous events (Smith & McQuade, 2021). Thus, parents should aim to strike a balance between attention and coordination, so that all members of the family are attended to. In considering the benefits of participating in communitybased activities such as increased family cohesion and reduce parental anxiety, getting involved in family-based activities is a worthwhile endeavour (Smith & McQuade, 2021).

Cultural Sensitivity: The Case for Adapted Interventions

Existing literature has established several possible avenues for caregivers of children with ASD to pursue to get educated, improve their self-efficacy and competence, and improve the overall functioning of the family unit (Bearss et al., 2015; Kalalo et al., 2021; Mukhtar et al., 2018). However, there is an alarming paucity of research exploring interventions attuned to the specific needs of families who belong to racial, ethnic, and cultural minority groups (Kaiser et al., 2022). This is especially problematic considering that many interventions for these families are tested with predominantly White families identified as middle class or higher (West et al., 2016). Thus, it is critical to consider culture through the lens of the ecological validity framework, and how interventions must therefore be adapted to support those at the margins.

The Ecological Validity Framework

The Ecological Validity Framework (EVF) is an eight-dimensional model that enhances the ecological validity of an intervention with a target (i.e., culturally different) group (Magana et al., 2017). This framework emphasizes the core tenets of cultural diversity which have been divided into eight unique but interrelated components (Bernal et al., 2009; Magana et al., 2017): (1) Language: Ensuring that the intervention is developed and made available to a plethora of diverse language speakers. (2) Persons: Considering the characteristics of both the participant and interventionist, as well as the relationship between them. For example, peer-led interventions from individuals within the same community, or allowing an 'outsider' who is made aware of cultural differences to run the intervention. (3) Metaphors: Understanding unique symbols and concepts that are shared within the community of interest. (4) Content and (5) Concepts:

Knowledge of the individual's culture (e.g., traditions, values, etc.). (6) Goals: Ensuring that the goals of the intervention are culturally sensitive and developed alongside members of the

community to ensure that their needs and interests are properly addressed. (7) *Methods*:

Considering the methods for achieving the outcomes of a given intervention, and whether they are accessible, feasible, and culturally sensitive. (8) *Context*: Considering both the social context of the intervention and the individual context of the participants (e.g., acculturative stress).

Cultural Adaptation

Cultural adaptations to interventions must consider both the individual and systemic barriers that give rise to discord and duress for families of children with ASD (Magana et al., 2021a). At present, a standardized procedure for cultural adaptation does not exist. However, strides have been made by advocates (Kuhn et al., 2020; Nguyen et al., 2021) to identify the core tenets of a rudimentary cultural adaptation process. There are profound implications for doing so, such as promoting more inclusive research practices that engages both the individual and stakeholders to foster equity, thus reducing health disparities (Magana et al., 2021a).

There are six phases that encompass the cultural adaptation process outlined by Magana et al. (2021a): (1) Creating an alliance between the researchers and interventionist to create knowledge with stakeholders. (2) Deciding on an intervention and ensuring that it has been tested with diverse groups. If key factors such as sample recruitment and retention, engagement with the intervention, and participant outcomes vary as a function of the group the individual belongs to, cultural adaptation is needed. (3) Determine what the needs of the individuals are prior to both administering the intervention or making adaptations. (4) Pilot any adaptations to the intervention. (5) Evaluate the efficacy of this pilot study by discussing the results with stakeholders for insight and feedback. (6). Update, adapt, and implement based on whether refinement is needed. Whether or not refinement is needed is based on the results of the pilot study and the feedback provided by stakeholders and participants.

Parents Taking Action (PTA): A Culturally Adapted Intervention

In line with the EVF and six phases to design a culturally-sensitive intervention, Magana and colleagues developed the "Parents Taking Action" (PTA) intervention (Magana et al., 2017; Magana et al., 2021a). The PTA intervention offers parent training to families of children with special needs, including ASD. The manual, modules, and protocol were all developed in consultation with social workers who work with Black, Indigenous, and/or People of Colour (BIPOC) families as well as developmental specialists (e.g., pediatricians and educational consultants). After completing the eight (8) week intervention, parents reported statistically significant differences on the following target outcomes: knowledge of autism, understanding their children's symptomology, competence accessing community-based resources, self-efficacy to help support their children attain developmental and educational milestones, knowing their rights, having support systems, and total score family outcomes (Magana et al., 2017). Additional data was collected to measure the feasibility and efficacy of this intervention. The findings revealed statistically significant differences for efficacy in use of strategies at pre- and post-test intervals, suggesting that parents find the intervention practical. This original pilot study was conducted with 20 mothers of Latin American descent.

PTA – Robustness and Flexibility

Since this original pilot study, PTA has been tested in several other settings with other racial and culturally diverse groups. For example, PTA was used with Chinese immigrant families and Black families and yielded successful results indicating PTA can be used with different ethnic groups beyond the Latinx population (Dabanah et al., 2021; Magana et al., 2021a). Beyond North America, PTA has also been tested in Colombia which speaks to not only its robustness but flexibility (Magana et al., 2021b). Despite its novelty, PTA is beginning to

build substantial evidence in support of its efficacy both in terms of its clear, clinical objectives but also for its practicality. Across the pilot studies, parents overwhelmingly view PTA as a feasible intervention that yields positive results (Dabanah et al., 2021; Magana et al., 2021a).

PTA can also be delivered using different modalities. For example, the original pilot study (Magana et al., 2017) consisted of a fourteen-week intervention with trained interventionists, or *promotoras*, completing the intervention during weekly home visits. Since this pilot project, Dabanah et al. (2021) conducted a follow-up study with results that show PTA could be run in group settings as opposed to one-on-one sessions. Additionally, Magana et al. (2017) found that PTA could also be delivered remotely through Zoom. An added benefit in doing so is that families from different cities (e.g., Chicago and New York) were recruited to participate in the same group study which allowed the researchers to increase their sample size (Magana et al., 2017). The duration of the intervention can also be altered depending on the needs and goals of the researcher (Garcia-Torres & Magana, 2019; Magana et al., 2021b). For example, in one study that assessed the efficacy of PTA in Bogotá, Columbia (Garcia-Torres & Magana, 2019), only nine (9) topics of the intervention were administered out of a possible 14. Additionally, these topics were condensed into four three-hour sessions. Thus, the literature shows that PTA can be easily adapted and tweaked to fulfill different purposes.

At present the PTA intervention has only been tested on one ethnic group at a time. It has not been tested on a heterogeneous cultural, racial, and/or ethnically diverse sample of participants (Magana et al., 2021a). This therefore represents a novel opportunity to test the efficacy of PTA on a mixed group with the hope of supporting parents achieve PTA's objectives (e.g., increased knowledge, improved self-efficacy, etc.) while also potentially building support groups and social cohesion between different ethnic groups.

The Present Study

Given the extent to which contextualized family care has been shown to be an effective intervention modality (Cridland et al., 2014; Spain et al., 2017; Wright & Benigno, 2019), it was especially important to consider an intersectional approach when exploring the efficacy of a novel parent training workshop. As such, the present study had two primary objectives. Firstly, to conduct a needs assessment to identify the types of supports diverse parents of children with ASD rely on, and whether they were satisfied with the quality of these supports. The questions asked were, a. What types of services do parents of children with ASD from racial, ethnic, and cultural minority backgrounds rely on in Montreal, Quebec, Canada? b. Are these parents satisfied with the quality of care they receive?

Secondly, the aim was to assess whether an adapted version of the PTA workshop ¹is effective. Questions asked were, a. Does this adapted version of PTA increase parents' knowledge of ASD? b. Does this intervention reduce or alleviate parental stress? c. Will parents become more confident in their caregiving abilities and report higher rates of self-efficacy?

Methodology

Sample and Recruitment

Sample Inclusion/Exclusion Criteria

Age. Given the extent to which early intervention is crucial (Sone et al., 2021), parents of young children with ASD (i.e., less than 12 years old) were recruited. The literature suggests that the average age of diagnosis in Canada is varied. A study by Oullette-Kuntz et al. (2009) sought to measure the average age of diagnosis across four regions in Canada. The results ground interregional differences in the average age of ASD diagnosis with Southeastern Ontario having the

¹ Expressed permission to use a modified version of the 'Parents Taking Action' workshop was granted by Dr. Sandy Magana from the University of Texas at Austin, Steve Hicks School of Social Work.

oldest age (55 months), a stark contrast to Newfoundland and Labrador who boasted the lowest age (39 months). At present, research that explains potential factors driving these differences is lacking. A recent metanalysis by Van Hof et al. (2020) measured the average age of diagnosis for ASD from 55 studies published between 2012 and 2019. The findings suggest a mean age of 43.18 months for children under the age of 10 years old. On the lower end of this range, children were diagnosed as young as 30.90 months and on the higher end, 74.70 months. Thus, it is difficult to select a target age especially when considering that children from cultural, racial, and ethnic minority backgrounds may also receive a diagnosis later (Lopez et al., 2020; Mandall et al., 2002; Stahmer et al., 2019). Parents of children under the age of 10 were eligible to participate. However, this age was later increased to 14 years old to improve participation rates.

ASD Diagnosis. Caregivers of these children must have received a formal evaluation and diagnosis from a professional (e.g., a registered psychologist, psychiatrist, pediatrician) based on observation, criteria from the fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-V), and the child's developmental and medical history (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The DSM-V notes three tiers to ASD severity. Children in Level 1 require support as they may have difficulty with social communication and often exhibit maladaptive, inflexible behaviour that impair the quality of their daily lives. Children in Level 2 have marked impairments in communication ability (i.e., verbal and nonverbal). These children also have difficulty adapting to changes in their routine and may become distressed when tasked with changing action or focus on a given task. As such, these children require substantial support. Children in Level 3 require very substantial support as they experience severe communication skills deficits (e.g., low frequency social interaction initiation, few social responses to others, only responds to direct social approaches). These children have marked behavioural impairments

that severely inhibit their ability to function in a variety of spheres. Parents of children with ASD, regardless of severity, were recruited and eligible to participate in this study. Parents were not asked the severity of their child's diagnosis, nor were they included or excluded on the basis of the level of severity of their child's diagnosis.

Sociodemographic Characteristics. One of the goals of this study was to determine the efficacy of a psychoeducational intervention that helps families of children with ASD from racial, ethnic, and cultural minority groups. As such, only parents from racial, ethnic, and cultural minority groups were initially eligible to participate in the study on the basis of whether they self-identify as Black, Latinx, Arab, and/or Asian. However, due to the unique context of Quebec (i.e., language laws that instate French as the primary language of the province), the inclusion criteria were later expanded to include immigrants and first-generation Canadians (i.e., children of immigrants). No limitations were placed on socioeconomic status or education level. Previous work has focused primarily on mothers (Magana et al., 2021a). While mothers carry substantially more childcare-related responsibilities (DePape & Lindsay, 2015; Luong et al., 2009), fathers undoubtedly may have a lot to gain from participating in an intervention whose core tenets promote education, self-efficacy, and perceived competence to support their children.

Recruitment Sites

After receiving ethical approval, parents were recruited in the Montreal area using a purposive sampling method in two ways. Parents were solicited from various centres, organizations, and community-based organizations that aim to support individuals from different ethnic backgrounds. Parents were also recruited on social media. This entailed joining specific Facebook groups (e.g., 'Parent support group for parents of children with ASD in Montreal') and advertising a call for participants. A breakdown of the research questions, the project's phases

and the intervention's objectives were outlined. A comprehensive list of potential recruitment sites and copy of the recruitment poster is provided in Appendix A. Examples of these sites include the *Cote-Des-Neiges Black Community Association*, is a community-led group aimed at promoting educational, social, and cultural prosperity in Montreal's Black community. Another example is the *Centre d'aide aux familles latino-américaines* which supports Latinx families integrate into Quebec society by familiarizing them with social services and resources.

Sample Composition and Procedure

Five participants (n = 5) expressed interest in the present study and participated in *Phase* I. However, one participant (Parent 1) was lost to attrition and did not participate in Phase II (n =4). The parents represent a range of ethnicities. Regarding their children, the average age was 10.2 and the average age of diagnosis was 4.6 years of age and there were four boys and one girl. Firstly, parental consent was obtained prior to data collection (Appendix B). Secondly, semistructured interviews with parents were conducted remotely on Zoom. In this Zoom session, parents were asked various questions about the types of services they rely on to support their children (e.g., diagnostic resources, interventions, supports within the public and private sector, etc.). At the end of the interviews, parents completed all pre-test scales and measures. This procedure comprises Phase I. In Phase 2, parents attended eight sessions of the adapted PTA workshop. During these sessions, parents were given presentations covering various topics related to ASD, accessing services and supports, stress management techniques, and how to become better advocates. They were also asked to complete anchoring activities during these sessions and, at times, were encouraged to complete additional self-guided activities (e.g., activities in which they were asked to reflect on their child's behaviour, therapy goals, and

current challenges they face as caregivers). Once the workshop was completed, parents completed the same measures at post-test.

Parent 1. Parent 1 was a Latina mother of an 11-year-old boy. Her child was mixed ethnicity (Cuban-Italian) and was diagnosed with ASD at the age of 3 years old by a neuropsychologist. Parent 1 only participated in Phase I of the present study.

Parent 2. Parent 2 was an immigrant from the United States. He was White and a dual citizen of both Canada and the United States. His child was a 14-year-old boy, the oldest of the five participants in the present study. He was diagnosed at 10 years of age, the oldest in age of diagnosis of all the children, by educational specialists in Vermont.

Parent 3. Parent 3 was an immigrant of Irish-Canadian descent. Her child was a 4-and-a-half-year-old boy, the youngest child. Her child had just turned 4 when he received his ASD diagnosis from a specialist at a health centre in Montreal.

Parent 4. Parent 4 was Asian-Canadian. At the time of the interview, her daughter was 10, though she turned 11 during the study. She received a formal ASD diagnosis at the age of 4 from a pediatrician at a children's hospital.

Parent 5. Parent 5 was Afro-Latina. Her child was a 10-year-old boy and received a diagnosis at the age of 2 from a team of psychologists at a children's hospital. At 2 years of age, he was the youngest to receive a formal ASD diagnosis of the children whose parents participated in the study.

Protocol For Phase I

Semi-Structured Interview

In *Phase I* of this study, the supports of families of children with ASD from cultural, racial, and ethnic minority groups were explored by conducting semi-structured interviews. This

phase aimed to identify the types of supports these parents relied on and whether they were satisfied with the supports they received. A qualitative design lent itself well to this inquiry as it provided parents with the opportunity to shed light on their unique, lived experiences in a way that a quantitative design could not. While use of scales and questionnaires is methodologically sound (Srinivasan et al., 2021; Zorec & Pop-Jordanova, 2020), a qualitative design often grants a greater degree of agency to parents and can be empowering by allowing them to share (Saldana et al., 2021). Prompts and questions were taken from the Family Outcome Survey (FOS) -Revised (Bailey et al., 2008). This measure includes five subscales in total but only items from one subscale were used. The subscale of interest focused on caregivers' social supports and their satisfaction accessing services and resources offered at the community level, as well as challenges they may face. For example, question 7 asks, "After receiving the diagnosis, which types of supports and resources (e.g., referral to a specialist, referral to support groups, information brochures or literature on the topic, intervention services) did you receive?". The follow-up questions asked whether these services were accessible (e.g., easy to get to, covered by insurance, etc.). The complete set of interview questions and prompts can be found in Appendix C. The semi-structured interviews with the participants took approximately one hour and were conducted through Zoom. This method allowed for rich data to be captured via interview transcripts. Per Brinkmann (2018), a semi-structured interview allows for a greater degree of leeway and flexibility to follow up on themes that are deemed important. Additionally, interviewers can focus the conversation on specific issues that arise without being confined to a set script. The data collection procedure was informed by the steps for conducting narrative research outlined in Cresswell and Poth (2017). This entailed selecting subjects and ensuring their story is properly situated within their personal experience (e.g., job, role within the family

context, etc.), culture (i.e., racial and ethnic background), and historical context (i.e., the current COVID-19 pandemic).

Data Coding and Analysis

Transcripts were coded using first cycle (In Vivo and Emotion) coding and second cycle (Pattern) coding. 'In Vivo' coding is an appropriate method to preserve the participants' meaning, views, and actions (Charmaz, 2014; Saldana, 2021). This is particularly important considering one of the primary objectives of the study was to explore the subjective experience of parents of children with ASD. This method also allows one to amplify the voice of the participant which, from an advocacy standpoint, was an intended benefit (Saldana, 2021). 'Emotion' coding was also employed concurrently to explore the interpersonal experiences of participants (Liu, 2015). Pattern coding was used during second cycle coding to contextualize participants' experience within the broader context of their social networks, patterns within interpersonal relationships, and experience with systemic forces at large (Saldana, 2021). It allows one to analyze the directional processes of a given phenomenon. This had positive implications for this study as it allowed us to see not only how participants engaged with community-based services, but how barriers that existed within these systems may have impeded both the access and quality of supports parents received.

Several strategies were used to ensure the trustworthiness and validity of the data. Firstly, analytic memos were written throughout the first phase of the project to reflect upon the ongoing research process. This provided an opportunity to compartmentalize existing biases. Analytic memos also allowed for reflection and the writing of descriptive summaries of data collected (Mason, 2002; Thornberg & Charmaz, 2014). It served as a rudimentary way to summarize and reflect on salient ideas from the data without reducing it, thus allowing for a rich analysis

(Saldana, 2021). Secondly, debriefing was used with my supervisor to discuss the themes extrapolated from the data. Additionally, a colleague within the department was asked to code one of the transcripts. They were made aware of the coding strategies to use when analyzing the transcripts. Codes derived from these transcripts were compared to ensure a degree of reliability. This entails comparing codes, subsequent categorization, themes extrapolated, and whether both raters tapped into the same constructs.

Moreover, attention was also devoted to ensuring the interview process itself did not influence the participants' answers. This phenomenon, known as research reactivity, is a threat to validity (Maxwell, 2013). While it is impossible to extricate research reactivity completely, certain strategies were used to minimize its effect. For example, asking questions using non-judgmental verbal and body language so the participant felt comfortable and at ease is critical. Another important strategy employed was ensuring empathic neutrality (Hays & Singh, 2012). This encompasses three key components to maintain the study's integrity and validity: communication, understanding, and care (Hays & Singh, 2012).

Additional strategies to improve the study's validity were implemented. For example, ensuring the transcriptions were accurate so the meaning from the transcriptions were the same as when spoken orally. To do this, check-ins with the participants were conducted to ensure their intended meaning was accurately understood during the interview. Thus, active listening and consistent engagement during this process were crucial.

In addition to transcribing the interview, notes were taken. These notes consisted of details regarding the participant's story, as well as the participant's body language and intonation during the interview to not only understand what the participant said, but how they did so.

Protocol For Phase II

In *Phase II*, a pre- and post-test design was used to test the efficacy of an adapted PTA intervention. Due to time and sampling constraints, changes were made to the original protocol such as: administering the intervention remotely on Zoom, recruiting a mixed sample consisting of multiple ethnic groups rather than soliciting one group, and delivering the intervention in a group-based setting rather than on an individual basis. With the exception of recruiting a heterogenous, ethnically diverse sample, these modifications have been validated by existing research (Magana et al., 2021a). During these eight weeks, parents were given the opportunity to not only learn about ASD and strategies to support their children, but also to complete anchoring activities (e.g., listening to simulated radio program, viewing a video, completing "home assignments") where they were asked to try implementing a strategy throughout the week. At the start of each session, parents were given the opportunity to share their week in review and experience implementing the strategies in the intervention. A comprehensive schedule of the program including objectives, content, and activities is outlined in Appendix D.

The intervention consisted of an eight-week long program. Starting from the first week, the primary goal was to equip parents with knowledge of ASD, to promote advocacy, and to help parents feel competent and confident navigating the system. Parents received an introduction to the program (e.g., schedule, overview of the goals, introduction to the materials). Parents were then trained to understand their child's behaviour by learning to understand the development of social and play skills, as well as communication in children. Parents were also trained to recognize the signs of ASD and understanding the diagnostic criteria of ASD. The aim of this was to not only improve parent's knowledge, but to dispel common myths about ASD. Parents also learned how to advocate for their child at school, which was especially critical to ensure that

they were receiving the services they need. In this module, ASD and the child's behaviour with others were explained to build social support. Parents were also equipped with strategies to reduces stress. Additionally, parents were made aware of evidence-based interventions to improve their child's functioning (e.g., social and play skills, communication ability) and decrease problematic behaviour. Parents learned about current practices and strategies to encourage communication with their children. Parents also learned strategies to improve their children's play and social skills with other children. Finally, parents learned to understand the root of problem behaviour(s), as well as how to prevent and address them.

Measures

Three measures were administered at pre- and post-test intervals: The *Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, and Efficacy* scale (Heller et al., 1999) (Appendix E), the *Autism Parenting Stress Index (APSI)* developed by Silva and Schalok (2012) (Appendix F), and the *Autism Spectrum Knowledge Scale – General (ASKS-G)* (McClain et al., 2019) (Appendix G). These measures were used to determine whether the intervention improved parents' knowledge of ASD and alleviated parental stress. It also allowed us to observe whether parents become more confident in their caregiving abilities, whether this resulted in greater self-efficacy beliefs.

Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, and Efficacy. There are three dimensions to this self-report questionnaire (Heller et al., 1999). A higher score on this measure means higher levels of caregiver's perceived self-efficacy and competence, satisfaction with their relationship with the child, and degree of burden. Firstly, caregiver burden explores the effects of caring for a child with ASD on employment, personal time, social opportunities, caregivers' relationship, etc. (e.g., caring for my child places a financial strain on my family). Caregiver satisfaction includes items that look at the relationship between the caregiver and child (sample item: helping my child

helps me feel close to him/her). Finally, caregiver efficacy is designed to measure the caregiver's perceived self-efficacy, competence, and ability to effectively parent a child with special needs (e.g., I can manage my child's behaviour). This measure uses a 4-point Likert scale where the participant can rank whether they strongly disagree (1) or strongly agree (4) with a statement. As we were primarily concerned with self-efficacy and parents' perceived competence, only one subscale was included in the final analysis though parents completed the entire questionnaire. While the entirety of the scale was administered, only the dimension exploring parental efficacy was included in the findings of the present report, as constructs such as caregiver burden and satisfaction were not target outcomes included in the present study's research questions.

Autism Parenting Stress Index. The APSI identifies where parents of children with ASD need support (Silva & Schalok, 2012). It was also used to assess the success of an intervention whose target is to reduce parenting stress (DesChamps et al., 2019). It is a self-report questionnaire where parents were asked to rate how stressful the event described in a given item is ranging from 'not stressful' to 'so stressful that sometimes we feel we cannot cope'. Sample items include rating the following events or situations: tantrums/meltdowns, self-injurious behaviour, concern for the future of your child being accepted by others. This measure is not only important for measuring the cumulative volume of stress parents of children with ASD experience, but can also be used to identify which factors specifically trigger stress.

The Autism Spectrum Knowledge Scale – General. The ASKS-G general population version is a measure to assess the knowledge the general population has of ASD (McClain et al., 2019). While there are many autism knowledge scales, many have been developed and validated using samples consisting of clinicians and professionals (Benallie et al., 2019; McClain et al., 2019). The ASKS-G is therefore an important measure, as it was developed and validated using

parents. This measure is a 31-item true/false questionnaire assessing caregivers' knowledge and understanding of ASD. There are five subsections: *Etiology and prevalence* (e.g., vaccines can cause ASD), *symptoms/associated behaviours* (e.g., all individuals with ASD have low IQs), *assessment/diagnosis* (ASD can only be diagnosed after the age of 4), *treatment* (e.g., restricting certain foods is an effective treatment for ASD), and *outcomes/prognosis* (e.g., individuals with ASD will never learn to speak). This measure is critical, as ASD knowledge is associated with higher advocacy, likelihood of seeking support, and being better equipped to identify the early signs of ASD (Benallie et al., 2019).

Data Collection & Analysis

Data collected from the questionnaires administered at both pre- and post-test intervals was compared to determine whether the adapted intervention was successful. This consisted of a single-subject comparison between the caregiver's scores before and after the intervention.

Additionally, individualized case studies were compiled and presented to demonstrate both similarities and differences in how parents benefited from participation in this intervention.

Results

Research Aim I

The first aim of the present study was to understand the types of supports ethnically diverse parents of children with ASD rely on and whether they are satisfied. Firstly, we asked what supports parents of children with ASD from racial, ethnic, and/or cultural minority backgrounds rely on to support their children. Secondly, we asked parents whether they were satisfied with the quality of support they received.

Data Analysis

Transcripts (n = 5) were coded using first cycle (In Vivo and Emotion) and second cycle (Pattern) coding. 'In Vivo' coding was used to preserve the participants' intended meaning, views, and actions related to the phenomenon of interest (Charmaz, 2014; Saldana, 2021). 'Emotion' coding was used concurrently to explore the interpersonal, subjective experiences of participants (Liu, 2015). Pattern coding was also used during second cycle coding to contextualize parents' experience within the broader context of their social ecology (Saldana, 2021). The aforementioned strategies to improve trustworthiness and validity of the data were implemented (e.g., analytic memo writing, peer debriefing, reducing researcher reactivity). *Summary*

Service Access & Quality. Across all the interviews, the parents explained how they solicited help from a suite of services across different sectors (e.g., healthcare, education, social service programs) to support their children. There are two dimensions to service access and quality to support their children: diagnosis and subsequent therapy/intervention. Moreover, parents were asked about the services they use to support themselves (e.g., parent training workshops, counselling, therapy) in the face of possible caregiving-related challenges. Regarding initial diagnoses, the most common service accessed was from specialized psychoeducational centres that conducted formal ASD evaluations. Only two out of the 5 parents had their child diagnosed by professionals through the medical system. For all parents, however, their pediatrician was their first point of contact. Parents initially met with their pediatrician to discuss their concerns and were referred to external services to obtain a formal evaluation and diagnosis for their child. Getting in contact with a pediatrician did not pose any problems for parents. However, the most challenging and distressing period occurred when parents tried to meet a

specialist to obtain an evaluation. Regarding therapy/intervention modalities, the majority of parents (60%) used a mix of services from both the public and private sectors. Parents mostly sought services from the private sector in the interim as they were placed on a waitlist for government-subsidized services in the private sector. Examples of these services include help from specialized professionals, such as ABA therapists, speech therapists, and occupational therapists. Parents also sought help from special education technicians. Within the public sector, parents relied on the services the school provided. The children received therapy from ABA therapists, speech therapists, occupational therapists, and benefited from having a school psychologist and team of special education technicians on staff. However, many of these professionals had a large case load and rarely met with the children one-on-one. Instead, they often offered group-based interventions to meet the high volume of diverse learners and students with neurodevelopmental disorders. These services were only offered once per week which was largely insufficient for parents. Finally, the parents in the present study did not access services to support them directly. Only one of the five parents joined a support group on social media.

Quality and Frequent Challenges. Across all five participants who participated in the interviews, many of the same challenges emerged. Firstly, long waitlists made it difficult for parents to obtain a diagnosis and subsequent resources to support their children. Secondly, after obtaining a diagnosis, two parents in the study did not receive guidance on how to proceed. In the absence of information from their healthcare provider or professional responsible for diagnosing their child, many of these parents were forced to conduct their own research independently. Thirdly, accessing private healthcare was not only inaccessible for the parents in this study, but language barriers made it difficult to find services in English. With Quebec being a Francophone province, many parents were required to settle for services they were not always

content with. The source of this dissatisfaction was due to language barriers that made it difficult to not only find suitable services, but also maintain consistent and clear communication with specialists. A fourth challenge to emerge in the interviews was the pitfalls of public services, namely those within the education sector. These pitfalls were often derived from one central issue: a lack of resources to adequately supply diverse learners and children with special needs with the care they need and deserve. The parents in this study overwhelmingly agreed that there are few specialized professionals (e.g., ABA therapists, speech therapists, occupational therapists, special education technicians) available for free within the school, and even fewer professionals who were appropriately trained. A common critique of these professionals was that they were either inexperienced or under-supported, often forcing children to either settle for group-based interventions or fewer (i.e., < 2) hours of therapy per week.

Parent 1

Parent 1 noticed several alarming behaviours that led her to conduct her own research on child development and ASD. After consulting with her pediatrician, she was placed on a waitlist to obtain an evaluation. She remained on a waitlist for one year before electing to obtain private care from a neuropsychologist who evaluated and diagnosed her child. The long wait times created feelings of anxiety and distress in Parent 1, ultimately driving her to seek therapy for her child before obtaining a formal diagnosis. Without a formal diagnosis, therapy came at exorbitant costs since Parent 1 needed to seek private healthcare to support her child. Obtaining a formal diagnosis also proved to be tricky for Parent 1, as she stated her pediatrician initially dismissed her child's problematic behaviours by attributing it to his 'Cuban ethnicity'.

Regarding the types of services accessed, Parent 1 met with her child's pediatrician, therapists from government-funded programs, educators, a speech therapist, physiotherapist, and

an occupational therapist. Despite access to a multi-disciplinary team, the quality of these services varied immensely. In terms of consulting with health professionals, Parent 1 did not feel supported by her child's pediatrician. Her child's pre-existing health condition required an aggressive steroid treatment with side effects that affected the child's mood and behaviour. As a result, her pediatrician did not initially believe his behaviour was indicative of ASD, but rather a by-product of the medication. This experience proved to be very frustrating for Parent 1, as she stated, "Even the doctors weren't really taking me serious".

Regarding the team of therapists working with her child, Parent 1 is currently pleased despite the immense challenges and obstacles that preceded the present intervention plan for her child. The first of many challenges emerged when she first enrolled her child in a special, private daycare before beginning elementary school. Here, she described the therapists as ill-equipped to handle the demands and needs of children with special needs. Secondly, after an immense wait time, Parent 1 was able to obtain government-subsidised therapy from an educator offered through a provincial social service program. This experienced posed many problems. Firstly, as the educators were not able to communicate effectively in English, Parent 1 had difficulty maintaining communication between herself and the team of therapists. She stated, "They pretend that it's services in English, but the educators are not able to hold the conversation in English". Additionally, the therapists themselves did not effectively help her child. One therapist told her, "Madame you have more experience than I do. I don't think I'll be able to help you". This same therapist eventually dropped her case because she claimed both the child and the mom were too demanding to work with. At the time of the interview, Parent 1 had hired two therapists from the private sector to support the needs of her child. While private therapy was expensive,

Parent 1 deemed it necessary due to the aforementioned challenges associated with seeking care from public, social service programs.

Regarding the educational context, the school where her child was enrolled did not have the resources to provide individualized intervention. However, her child was offered free group speech therapy, physiotherapy, and occupational therapy. Parent 1 did not have any critiques for these services. However, she did feel frustrated by the experience of navigating systemic barriers (i.e., underfunded schoolboards). For example, Parent 1 was deemed ineligible for a government-funded program on the basis that her child was enrolled in an English school in a Francophone province. The inability to access critical services on the basis of language laws (i.e., Bill 96) left Parent 1 angry. This eventually culminated in her taking legal action, which had been covered by major media outlets (e.g., CTV) in the country. At the time of the study, her case had been taken up by politicians and a legal case was being built due to the view that it violated the Charter of Rights.

Taken together, Parent 1's experience as a caregiver had provided several interesting findings. Firstly, a multidisciplinary team consisting of therapists, educators, and specialists was needed to support her child's learning. Secondly, there were several challenges associated with seeking these supports as an ethnic, racial, and/or cultural minority in Quebec. While many of these challenges were due to poor government planning and resource management (e.g., long waitlists, fewer qualified and competent professionals in the public sector than in the private sector, less individualized intervention offered within the school), some were due to systemic barriers and perceivably discriminatory legislation such as those that deny access on the basis of language services available in the province.

Parent 2

Parent 2 first developed an inkling that his child may have a neurodevelopmental disorder based on their early behaviours (e.g., language processing, sensory processing). The process of obtaining a formal diagnosis proved to be exceptionally difficult. The long wait times in the public sector and tremendous cost to obtain a formal diagnosis drove Parent 2 to seek help in the United States where the costs for a diagnosis were comparable to Canada, but wait times were considerably shorter. The assessment was conducted by a team of psychologists at an educational centre in Vermont. On one hand, Parent 2 felt considerable relief after obtaining a diagnosis but the reality of having a child with special needs with little information about available resources incurred a tremendous toll on their mental health. As an immigrant from the United States, Parent 2 felt out of his depth trying to identify available services to support his child. Parent 2's process of obtaining information was conducted entirely independently. He conducted his own research on the Internet and joined social media support groups to get connected with other parents of children with special needs.

Regarding the types of supports Parent 2 relied on to support his child, he initially sought out the help of a speech pathologist to address his child's speech delays prior to obtaining a formal ASD diagnosis. At the time of the interview, his child was receiving support from a speech therapist, an occupational therapist provided by the schoolboard, a psychiatrist, and two psychologists. Overall, Parent 2 was pleased with the quality of these supports. Not only did he believe his child was receiving proper support, but communication between him and the team of specialists was open, clear, and available when needed. Between specialists, there was also communication in the form of yearly evaluations where, "they share notes, work on strategies

together". Additionally, the treatment modality was flexible and his child was able to attend either in person or online.

However, despite the strides his child has made receiving therapy, there were still many difficulties and challenges to accessing this care. Parent 2 was not able to obtain a formal diagnosis or referral from a family doctor because they did not have a family doctor and were still on a waiting list to receive one. Additionally, none of the services received were subsidized because the Quebec government did not deem his needs severe enough. As a result, Parent 2's child did not receive weekly care, but rather operated on a needs basis. Each 45-minute session was \$100 and, after an 18-month process to have the costs recuperated, Parent 2 and his family had his request denied. Many of the gaps in his child's intervention plan, however, were filled by the services offered by his child's school since it was a special needs school. Despite the school's commitment to supporting neurodiverse learners, there was still an alarming lack of resources.

To summarize, Parent 2 was generally content with the quality of services (i.e., speech therapy) received, though long wait times and convoluted criteria made it difficult to access and afford special care. His child's enrolment in a school catered to children with special needs may have offset the lack of private services accessed, though it must be noted that the school had many of its own challenges (e.g., deficient in resources to provide enough support to its student body).

Parent 3

Parent 3 obtained a diagnosis for their child in a process that lasted almost three years, due in part to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as systemic factors, such as waitlists, the need for referrals, and extensive testing to obtain a diagnosis. This was a pervasive barrier, as

obtaining a diagnosis that was recognized by the government as a critical step so parents may access specialized services at a subsidized rate. The process of triaging for Parent 3 proved to be tedious, as she was initially referred to a pediatrician by a specialist at a rehabilitation centre. Here, she was referred to the CLSC who then referred her back to the rehabilitation centre. After being diagnosed, she was finally referred to the CLSC to learn about her next steps. On one hand, receiving the diagnosis was affirming for Parent 3 because she had an inkling that her child might have ASD. However, the process of obtaining supports and information as a parent of a child with special needs was a markedly difficult period for Parent 3.

At the time of the study, Parent 3 was on a waitlist for a speech therapist and occupational therapist. As stated, "He hasn't received any treatment yet. Like literally none. I advocated very, very actively over the last year with the CLSC to get therapy for him". In the interim, Parent 3 paid for private care with a special education technician, although this was not a feasible long-term option for two reasons. Firstly, the cost of therapy was expensive and unstainable for Parent 3. Secondly, "it was hard to know what to invest in because no one would give us a clear answer of what the right kind of therapy was". In the absence of accessible and high-quality information, Parent 3 was essentially forced to conduct her own research about the various types of therapy available for her child.

Outside of therapy, Parent 3 had tremendous difficulty navigating services within the education sector. While special education and related resources (i.e., programs, supports) were a big part of Quebec's plan to support children with special needs, Parent 3's experience with these services shows that there was still ample work necessary to strive towards inclusion and equality. For example, she placed her son in three early childhood education centres. At the first daycare, her child worked with a special education technician who put together a behaviour plan. When

asked about the quality of this service, Parent 3 said, "There was some progress but there were no resources to support it, so it didn't do much". At the second daycare, Parent 3 had an issue with overcrowding due to the 'double classroom' model adopted by the educators. When describing the environment, Parent 3 said, "It was very noisy because there were two teachers, two clusters of kids all in the same space. He had trouble with that". Additionally, one of the educators was ill-equipped to handle such a large class size including students with special needs, as this daycare was her first job. As Parent 3 stated, "She did not have the skills to support him. No specialized training, working with special needs populations or anything, no training working with toddlers at all. She had been a secondary school teacher". Finally, her son was transferred to another daycare. During this time, Parent 3 faced tremendous turmoil and discrimination. While she believed obtaining an official diagnosis would serve her child well, the inverse appeared to happen. The policy of the daycare stated that children formally diagnosed with ASD must be accompanied by an aid. However, the shortage of specialized educators (i.e., aids) meant that they could not arrange for the child to return to the daycare. In essence, her child was removed from the daycare because the educators could not accommodate him in a timely manner.

To summarize, the types of services that Parent 3 accessed for her child were a team of specialists (e.g., education professionals, pediatricians, support staff affiliated with the CLSC), a private therapist, and staff at the various daycares she enrolled her child in. Many challenges associated with navigating these services had to do with long waitlists and staff who, in the words of Parent 3, were "ill-equipped and undertrained to work with children with special needs". On one hand, obtaining a diagnosis provided a degree of comfort for Parent 3. However, the events that followed the diagnosis were not only distressing, but incredibly destabilizing for

her family. With her child removed from several daycares and access to help blocked behind arbitrary regulations and long waitlists, she was forced to keep her child at home while juggling a full-time job. Parent 3 attributes the dissolution of her marriage partly to the stress she experienced during this time. She stated, "I got divorced during the pandemic – it's not the only reason, but it was an additional stressor".

Parent 4

Parent 4's child was diagnosed with ASD after approximately two years on a waitlist by a pediatrician. Similarly to the other parents in this study, the diagnosis brought a great degree of relief as it provided an explanation for their child's problematic behaviours. However, many of the challenges began shortly after the diagnosis was given. As Parent 4 stated, "I have answers but then I don't have solutions. I don't know what to do". Her pediatrician did not refer her to an organization or resource where she could learn about ASD, evidence-based therapies to support children with ASD, or who to contact regarding next steps. She said, "We applied to get information but never get an answer until she was removed from the list because she was too old". Additionally, getting specialized care in the form of subsidized therapy, support from a speech and/or occupational therapist, special education aids, etc. has not been possible for Parent 4. At the time this study was conducted, Parent 4's child had not received any care outside of the supports offered through her school. As stated, "She is not working with anyone at the moment. She has help at school".

The only support Parent 4 relied on was from her child's teachers. Regarding the quality of this support, there were both strengths and weaknesses addressed. Regarding the positives, Parent 4 maintained consistent communication with her child's teachers. "The teacher is very helpful and very professional. I get religiously informed and aware of what's going on at

school". However, there were several weaknesses that came up when Parent 4 was asked about teacher support. While she was happy that teachers were helpful, she did not believe that they always provided the best strategy that worked for her child. Relative to her child's ASD presentation (e.g., behavioural and social issues), she felt her child was not receiving enough services.

Thus, Parent 4's interview revealed that long waitlists made it difficult to obtain specialized care to support children with ASD. At the time of the interview, her child was only receiving support from her teachers at school. She was not receiving any educational, social, or clinical/therapeutic services to ensure she was attaining critical developmental and educational milestones. Moreover, little was being done to effectively address her child's ASD symptomology. While communication between her and the teacher had been positive, there was still a lot to be done to fill in the gaps.

Parent 5

Parent 5 had their child diagnosed by a team of psychologists and specialists at a hospital specializing in pediatric care. After 8 months on a waitlist, her child received a thorough and comprehensive assessment, spanning two days. Initially, she was informed the wait time would be two and a half years but Parent 5's unrelenting commitment to supporting her child expedited the process. She stated, "I'm the mom that keeps calling and calling and calling. They had told me the wait time was two and a half years. I was the mom calling every month and I think they just got irritated with me that they sent my file to see things".

After obtaining a diagnosis, Parent 5 recalled, "I did all the work by myself. We were on a waiting list for parent workshops. There's no services given, we waited like three, four months and then went to a workshop to explain what autism was". The quality of this workshop left a lot

to be desired, as Parent 5 stated the content of the workshop spanned topics she already knew based on her extensive research conducted independently. The workshop itself did little to equip her with concrete strategies and skills to cope with raising a child with special needs.

Parent 5's child received private support from a speech therapist, an occupational therapist, and an ABA therapist. At the time of the interview, her child was in the process of transitioning to public care, to be enforced by a team of specialists within his school. Parent 5 overall seemed pleased with the quality of the private services, though several issues came up. For example, the owner of one of the therapy centres became less hands-on as her business grew. As Parent 5 said, "She's no longer on hand. There's no more empathy. I find that my son became a number". Overall, however, she reportedly felt pleased with the quality of services available in private care. For example, triaging her child to a different therapist was a more seamless process in private care. For example, one of the ABA therapists her child was seeing recommended she find help from another therapist at the centre since her child was not progressing as quickly as they wanted under their intervention plan. Additionally, one of the occupational therapists had to drop her case after being diagnosed with breast cancer. Finding a replacement proved to be very difficult, as Parent 5 said, "It's very hard to get English services", though the centre did their best to accommodate her. In terms of the challenges associated with private care, "There was no insurance at all. Everything's paid out of pocket".

Since her child was eligible for services within his school, many of the challenges associated with public healthcare and social services came to light. For example, her child was eligible for ABA therapy, but the school only had enough resources to provide up to two hours of therapy per week. As a result, "he's not really learning much in two hours". With regards to the quality of the services available publicly, Parent 5 was largely dissatisfied. She shared, "The

workers just came out of school, and it changes all the time. Are they competent? I don't know". Another major issue to arise within the public and educational sector was fragmented communication. For example, Parent 5 stated that there was no communication between herself and the teacher. She did not know what program her child was doing, nor the therapy goals set by the school psychologist and team of therapists.

To summarize, Parent 5 recruited help from both the private and public sectors. Within the private sector, she was quite pleased by the services (e.g., speech therapy, occupational therapy, ABA therapy) offered and the ability to circumvent long times spent on a waitlist. However, language barriers and exorbitant costs were two significant barriers to staying within the private sector. In the public sector, the child had access to a team of specialists (e.g., school psychologist, ABA therapist, speech, and occupational therapists), but there were simply not enough resources to meet the therapy needs of the child. Additionally, fragmented communication between Parent 5, the educator, and team of specialists working with her child was cited as an especially distressing challenge that characterized her experience.

Research Aim II

The second aim of this study was to assess whether an adapted version of PTA is effective. There were three central questions investigated in the present study. *I. Does this adapted version of PTA increase parents' knowledge of ASD? II. Does this intervention reduce or alleviate parental stress? III. Will parents become more confident in their caregiving abilities, become greater advocates, and observe greater satisfaction post-intervention?*

Data Analysis

Data was derived from questionnaires administered at both pre- and post-test intervals to determine whether the adapted intervention was successful. The present design is a single-

subject comparison of caregivers' scores before and after the intervention. Due to the small sample size, inferential statistics were not used. Instead, simple descriptive statistics and participants' sum scores were tabulated. Additionally, in the descriptive case studies the participants' changes were calculated as a percentage to show the size and direction of change effects where relevant.

After the eight-week workshop, post-test data was collected to measure the success of the target outcomes: increasing parents' knowledge of ASD, reducing parental stress, and improving parental self-efficacy beliefs. All questionnaires were scored and the results were compiled into Tables 1-3. When comparing pre- and post-test data collected using the ASKS-G (Table 1), all participants performed better at post-test, suggesting parental knowledge increased following the completion of the workshop. In some cases, the differences were more pronounced (e.g., Parent 3) and in other cases, the differences were marginal (e.g., Parent 2).

Table 1

Autism Knowledge Scale-General (ASKS-G)* higher scores indicates greater ASD knowledge

- -	Parent 2		Parent 3		Parent 4		Parent 5	
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Etiology/ Prevalence	3	4	1	2	5	6	6	5
Symptoms/ Associated Behaviours	6	6	6	7	6	7	6	7
Assessment/ Diagnosis	3	4	5	6	6	6	5	6
Treatment	4	3	4	4	4	4	3	4
Outcomes/ Prognosis	4	5	4	5	4	5	5	5
Total	20	22	20	24	25	28	25	27

As measured by the APSI, parenting stress (APSI) yielded more variability in the preand post-test results (Table 2). For two of the participants, parenting stress decreased after completing the workshop. For one parent, pre- and post-test results were the same. Notably, parenting stress increased for one parent.

 Table 2

 Autism Parenting Stress Index (APSI) *higher score indicates greater levels of parental stress

•	Parent 2		Par	Parent 3		Parent 4		Parent 5	
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	
Score	19	12	36	33	19	19	47	49	

Regarding data collected using the 'Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, and Efficacy' scale, three dimensions were measured (Table 3). The first dimension, 'Caregiver Burden' yielded mixed results. A higher score on this dimension implies that parents feel a greater degree of burden related to caring for a child with special needs. For parents who scored lower on 'Caregiver Burden' at post-test, this implies they felt less burdened by the workload associated with children with ASD. For half of the participants, parents' perceived burden increased after the workshop. For one of these parents, the increase was noticeably higher (i.e., a 5-point difference). In the case of parents whose perceived burden decreased, the decrease at post-test was marginal (i.e., a difference of approximately 2 points). Caregiver satisfaction remained relatively consistent at pre- and post-test intervals. A higher score on this dimension implies that parents view their relationship with their child as positive, and generally feel content in their role as a caregiver for a child with special needs. For half the parents, their pre- and post-test scores were the same. For the other half, points either increased (i.e., Parent 3) or decreased (i.e., Parent 4) by one point. Finally, self-efficacy also yielded mixed results, whereby half the parents observed an increase while the other half had decreased self-efficacy at post-test. A higher score

on self-efficacy suggests parents felt a greater sense of perceived self-competence and confidence in their ability to effectively support their children with special needs. While data was collected for all three subscales, self-efficacy is the primary variable of interest, as it was one of the target outcomes the workshop aimed to improve.

Table 3.

Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, and Efficacy (CBSE)

41 . 1 . 1	. 1 1					1 10 00
*higher score indicates s	greater levels of	nerceived	careower hurden	careower s	atistaction	and self-efficacy
mgner score materies	Sieurei revers of	percervea	caregiver ouracm,	caregivers	ansjacnon,	and self efficacy

·	Parent 2		Parent 3		Parent 4		Parent 5	
_	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post
Caregiver Burden	13	18	17	18	11	10	22	20
Caregiver Satisfaction	16	16	16	16	13	14	13	12
Self- Efficacy	12	11	12	13	9	12	9	6

Parent 2

According to the summative scores on the various measures used, Parent 2 appeared to have benefited from the workshop, having improved tremendously across three of the target outcomes (Table 4). Regarding the ASKS-G, Parent 2's composite score improved by a total of two points. The percentage of correct responses at pre-test was 66.7% compared to 73.3% at post-test, indicating Participant 1's knowledge of ASD improved by 6.6% after completing the workshop. Across all five subsections of the scale, Parent 2 either improved or remained the same at post-test data collection. However, it must be noted that for one of the categories (Treatment), Parent 2 performed slightly below at post-test. Though the difference between pre-and post-test scores were marginal, they dropped by one point (i.e., a decrease of 3.33%). Based on these results, Parent 2's knowledge of ASD had improved greatly in general, having an

improved total score. Improvements were noted specifically for the following categories: etiology/prevalence, assessment/diagnosis, and outcomes/prognosis.

Regarding parent anxiety, Participant 2 also appeared to have benefited from the content of the workshop, as pre- and post-test figures suggest. In comparing their total score on the APSI, their post-test score was lower indicating that Parent 2 felt less anxious related to caregiving responsibilities, their children's disability, and/or about their future. Overall, parent anxiety appears to have decreased by 11% after completing the workshop.

Participants' performance measured by the CBSE yielded a great degree of variability. For example, while certain metrics (i.e., caregiver burden) increased, others (i.e., self-efficacy) decreased. Notably, caregiver satisfaction remained the same at pre- and post-test intervals. Firstly, caregiver burden has increased by 5 points (21% increase). This indicates that Parent 2's perceived burden associated with caring for a child with special needs has increased after completing the workshop. Secondly, caregiver satisfaction has remained consistent. This means that Parent 1's attitudes (i.e., love, affection, appreciation) for their child did not change after the workshop. Finally, Parent 1's self-efficacy decreased by one point (6% decrease). Though this difference is small, this suggests that their assessment of their own competence and ability to effectively care for their child with special needs has decreased after completing the workshop.

Table 4. Summary of Parent 2's ASD Knowledge, Stress, and CBSE

	Autism Knowledge Scale – General		
	Pre	Post	
Etiology/ Prevalence	3	4	
Symptoms/Associated Behaviours	6	6	
Assessment/Diagnosis	3	4	
Treatment	4	3	
Outcomes/Prognosis	4	5	
Total	20	22	

Autism Parenting Stress Index		
Pre	Post	
19	12	
	Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, & Efficacy (CBSE)	
Pre	Post	
13	18	
16	16	
12	11	
	19 Pre 13	

Parent 3

Parent 3 also benefited from the workshop, having improved across the aforementioned target outcomes (Table 5). Regarding the ASKS-G, Parent 3's score improved by a total of four points. Across all participants, Parent 3 observed the greatest gains in autism knowledge at post-test, having increased by 13%. For all five subsections, their performance at post-test either improved or stayed the same. Specifically, they improved on etiology/prevalence, symptoms/associated behaviours, assessment/diagnosis, and outcomes/prognosis. However, they performed the same when assessing their knowledge of available treatments for ASD. Participant

3's levels of anxiety also decreased at post-test, having originally scored 33 and decreasing by 3 points at post-test. Parent 3 yielded the second-best gains regarding parental anxiety, suggesting they benefited from learning about stress and using strategies to reduce it.

With respect to CBSE, Parent 3 also had a great deal of variability in their post-test results, having improved in one outcome, staying consistent in another, and finally regressing for another outcome. In terms of improvements, self-efficacy improved by one point (6%) after the workshop. This suggests that Parent 3's perceived self-appraisal of their caregiving abilities increased after the workshop. Caregiver satisfaction remained the same at pre- and post-test intervals. Notably, caregiver burden increased by one point (6%) at post-test, indicating that they have a greater degree of perceived burden associated with caring for a child with special needs.

Table 5. Summary of Parent 3's ASD Knowledge, Stress, and CBSE

	Autism Knowledge Scale - General		
	Pre	Post	_
Etiology/ Prevalence	1	2	
Symptoms/Associated Behaviours	6	7	
Assessment/Diagnosis	5	6	
Treatment	4	4	
Outcomes/Prognosis	4	5	
Total	20	24	

	Autism Parenting Stress Index	
	Pre	Post
Score	36	33
		Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, & Efficacy (CBSE)
	Pre	Post
Caregiver Burden	17	18
Caregiver Satisfaction	16	16
Self-Efficacy	12	13

Parent 4

Parent 4's knowledge increased after the eight-week workshop by 3 points, indicating that they benefited from participating (Table 6). Their performance at pre- and post-test remained the same for two of the five subsections (treatment and assessment/diagnosis), however they improved in the other subsections by one point in each domain. Overall, their knowledge of autism increased by 10% after completing the program. Regarding parental stress, their post-test scores did not change from their pre-test scores. This suggests that they did not benefit from the stress management techniques and strategies outlined in the program.

Their performance on the CBSE scale at post-test was generally positive across three target measures. Regarding caregiver burden, their score decreased by one point (4.2%). Though marginal, this difference reflects a shift in Parent 4's perception of the burden of caring for a child with special needs. For caregiver satisfaction, they improved by one point (5.5%) suggesting they felt more satisfied with their role as a caregiver for a child with ASD. Finally, their self-efficacy appraisal increased by three points (16.7%). This difference shows that Parent 4 generally felt more competent and confident in their ability to care for a child with special needs. Notably, Parent 4 is the only participant in the sample to yield improvements across all three measures of the CBSE scale. While other parents in the study yielded more variability (i.e., benefiting in some areas, regressing in others), Parent 4's CBSE score indicates that participating in the workshop was successful at bolstering their confidence, competence, and overall perception of their role as caregivers of children with special needs.

Table 6. Summary of Parent 4's ASD Knowledge, Stress, and CBSE

	Autism Knowledge Scale – General	
	Pre	Post
Etiology/ Prevalence	5	6
Symptoms/Associated Behaviours	6	7
Assessment/Diagnosis	6	6
Treatment	4	4
Outcomes/Prognosis	4	5
Total	25	28
		Autism Parenting Stress Index
	Pre	Post
Score	19	19

Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, & Efficacy ((CBSE)
--	--------

	Pre	Post	
Caregiver Burden	11	10	
Caregiver Satisfaction	13	14	
Self-Efficacy	9	12	

Parent 5

Parent 5's knowledge of autism increased by two points, indicating a growth of 6% (Table 7). Overall, the results suggest that they benefited from participating in the workshop, particularly for the subsections assessment/diagnosis, symptoms/associated behaviours, and treatment. For these three competencies, they improved by one point each. Their sub-score for outcomes/prognosis remained the same at both pre- and post-test intervals. Notably, their performance at post-test was worse for the etiology/prevalence subsection. However, the difference is marginal, as Parent 4 only regressed by one point.

Regarding parental stress, their performance increased by two points at post-test. Despite the small difference, this is especially notable considering none of the other participants in the present study performed worse at post-test on the APSI scale. This suggests that their levels of stress were heightened following exposure to the content covered in the workshop. It also suggests that the techniques aimed at reducing parental stress were likely not effective for Parent 4. Though difficult to ascertain why, it may be a content-related issue (i.e., the content covered in the program was not rigorous enough to effectively manage Parent 4's anxiety). It may also be because exposure to novel information about the best ways to support her child highlighted existing gaps in her parenting, and thus created additional stress. A final explanation for why this may be is because the content covered the signs of parental stress and activities to reflect on daily stressors. Perhaps through completing this activity, Participant 4 became more aware of stressors in her life, thus resulting in a higher post-test on the APSI.

Finally, their performance on the CBSE scale indicates that they benefited along one dimensions but regressed in two. The area in which they improved was 'caregiver burden', having observed a reduction of 12 (50%) points at post-test which suggests the perceived burden of caring for a child with special needs was alleviated following participation in the workshop. Unfortunately, 'caregiver satisfaction' and 'self-efficacy' were worse at post-test. The former decreased by one point (5.5%) and the latter by 3 points (16.7%) This speaks to two things. Firstly, parents felt less satisfied in their role as a parent to a child with special needs. Secondly, they had worse self-efficacy beliefs following the workshop. Thus, their perceived self-competence, confidence, and overall self-assessment of their ability to care for a child with ASD was worse following the intervention.

Table 7. Summary of Parent 5's ASD Knowledge, Stress, and CBSE

	Autism Knowledge Scale – General		
	Pre	Post	
Etiology/ Prevalence	6	5	
Symptoms/Associated Behaviours	6	7	
Assessment/Diagnosis	5	6	
Treatment	3	4	
Outcomes/Prognosis	5	5	
Total	25	27	
		Autism Parenting Stress Index	
	Pre	Post	
Score	47	49	
		Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, & Efficacy (CBSE)	
	Pre	Post	
Caregiver Burden	22	10	
Caregiver Satisfaction	13	12	
Self-Efficacy	9	6	

Discussion

The present study had two aims. Firstly, to conduct a needs assessment by identifying the suite of services recruited by ethnically, racially, and/or culturally diverse parents to support their children with special needs. Parents were also asked questions to assess the quality of support received, as well as the challenges involved in accessing these supports. Secondly, we aimed to test the efficacy of a culturally adapted parent training workshop with three target outcomes: Increase parents' knowledge and understanding of ASD, reduce parental anxiety, and improve their CBSE scores (i.e., caregiver burden, satisfaction, and efficacy beliefs).

Research Aim I

Interviews conducted with parents revealed a great deal about the types of services recruited by parents to support their children. It also provided an evaluative component, as parents were asked to provide feedback on the quality of these services and the challenges associated with them. Five main challenges emerged based on the data collected: Long wait times, cost of private care, lack of information for parents of newly diagnosed children with ASD, language barriers associated with navigating services in a predominantly Francophone province, and sub-par professionalism (e.g., undertrained staff) within the public sector.

Types of Services

Regarding the types of services and supports solicited by parents, there are two dimensions that must be considered. The first related to supports used by parents that directly support their children (e.g., therapy, medication). The second referred to supports and services aimed at supporting the parent (e.g., seeking social supports within the community, soliciting help from a mental health professional, seeking information about ASD and its related impact).

Within the first dimension, parents recruited a suite of services to support their children. This included medical professionals (e.g., pediatricians), psychologists, educational specialists (e.g., behavioral technicians, special educators), and therapists (e.g., ABA, speech, occupational). The parents in this study who solicited these services never recruited just one, but rather had their child benefit from a team of specialists working in tandem to design and implement intervention plans. Parents elected to target the behavioral and psychosocial aspects of ASD symptomology, which is consistent with existing literature that has found behavioral intervention is one of the most sought-after treatment modalities in parents of children and adolescents with ASD (DeFilippis, 2016). These treatments, which aim to improve children's

social skills, reduce instances of challenging behaviours, and improve the social consequences of ASD symptomology (Warren et al., 2011), accurately reflect the list of services utilized by the parents in this study. Interestingly, none of the parents in the present study pursued medical intervention in the form of pharmacological treatment. Despite the well-chronicled efficacy of some of these medications (e.g., Risperidone, Aripiprazole), particularly as it relates to treating behavioral symptoms, the parents in the present study only pursued psychosocial, behavioral interventions (e.g., ABA, SLP, OT) (Aishworya et al., 2022; DeFilipis & Wagner, 2016).

For the second dimension, it is important to note that none of the parents in the study sought support from a therapist, counsellor, or other mental health professional for their own stress. This is largely inconsistent with the literature that has explored the types of supports parents of children with special needs utilize. For example, one study conducted by Marsack-Topoloewski (2020) found that nearly a quarter (27.5%) of parents participated in ASD support groups, nearly half (48.8%) solicited psychiatric services, and 40.6% sought help from a counsellor. This is a stark contrast to the parents in the present study, where only one parent out of five (20%) searched for support for themselves in the form of a Facebook support group to connect with other parents of children with special needs.

Challenges

Long wait times. Long wait times proved to be one of the most pervasive issues among parents in the present study. Throughout the entire process (i.e., obtaining a diagnosis and seeking services), parents were faced with long waitlists. In terms of getting a diagnosis, wait times ranged from eight months, on the shorter end, to three years. Despite these long wait times, parents remained active and resourceful by trying to get informed about ASD and seeking privatized care to support their kids, even in the absence of a formal diagnosis. Two parents in

the study tried to circumvent the wait times. Parent 2, for example, ventured to the United States where wait times were considerably shorter due to the privatized healthcare system. Parent 5 also managed to advocate for her child by calling the center daily, eventually getting the two and a half year wait time to eight months. Across the five parents who participated in the interview portion of the study, the average time to receive a diagnosis was 20.4 months (1.7 years).

This is especially concerning, considering the literature on wait times in Canada has ranged from 7 months (Penner et al., 2018) to 12 months (Bernie et al., 2021). There are two potential confounds explaining why the average time to receive a diagnosis was higher in the present study than those reported in the literature. Firstly, there is a breadth of literature showing that belonging to a cultural, racial, and/or ethnic minority group has been associated with a later age of diagnosis (Lopez et al., 2020; Mandall et al., 2002; Stahmer et al., 2019). The literature points to two possible reasons for this: cultural taboos that reinforce cycles of denial within families (Kang-Yi et al., 2018), and language barriers (St. Amant et al., 2017). Given that Quebec is a Francophone province whose services are offered mostly in French, the latter is a more plausible explanation for the results obtained in the present study. This is especially likely considering the majority of parents in the present study are Anglophones who either do not speak French or do not speak it well enough to confidently navigate various services.

Additionally, one must also consider the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. As emerging research has shown, individuals with disabilities in Quebec had tremendous difficulty accessing services during the pandemic (Fortin-Bedard et al., 2023). The novel nature of the virus represents an issue in its own right, as the Government did not know how to properly adapt to reliably support individuals with disabilities. Moreover, the inability to respond effectively and in a timely manner was further exacerbated by insufficient resources, structural weaknesses

(e.g., poor coordination between medical professionals, stakeholders, and policymakers), and the Quebec government's choice to prioritize other groups over individuals with neurodevelopmental disabilities (Fortin-Bedard et al., 2023; Valderrama et al., 2022).

Taken together, the long wait times reported by parents in the study speak to a larger systemic issue, whereby individuals with special needs are often cast aside and not accounted for. While long wait times are not a novel phenomenon, many of the longstanding issues have since been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic (Lee et al., 2021).

Private Care. Four out of five parents in the present study (80%) solicited help from the private sector. This figure is considerably high, considering the tremendous strides made by the Quebec government to divest funds and support individuals with disabilities. Quebec offers a unique context to explore disparities in access to privatized versus public healthcare. The results from the present study support the notion that much is required from the Quebec government to ensure parents do not have to seek private care out of necessity. Legislation and public policy governing health policies are a provincial matter. Services that support the needs of individuals with disabilities are mandated by the Quebec Health and Social Service System (Alami et al., 2021). At present, there are 22 social service centres that support individuals with disabilities, four hospitals, and three universities (MSSS, 2018, as cited in Alami et al., 2021). While the depth of support offered is promising, the reality is that this is simply insufficient for parents of children with special needs in Quebec. However, despite these seemingly abundant services, many of the parents in this study did not rely on government-subsidized services.

There are several reasons why parents pursued psychosocial intervention within the private sector in lieu of the public. One parent, for example, was not eligible for government-funded programs because their child was enrolled within the English sector. Another parent had

to seek services in the private sector because his needs were not deemed significant enough to qualify for government-subsidized services. As a result, this parent had to pay for private care and, after an 18-month battle seeking reimbursement, he was unsuccessful. While the majority of the parents in the study relied on some form of privatized care, many did so to circumvent long wait times associated with pursuing services in the healthcare sector. In many ways, parents simply had no choice and did not pursue privatized care of their own volition. While the parents were overall satisfied with the quality of services in the private sector, the majority of parents did not feel it was financially feasible to continue pursuing privatized care. One parent, for example, could only afford private care from a special education technician on an ad-hoc basis.

These findings are therefore consistent with existing literature which shows the exorbitant cost of healthcare to support children with special needs are a pervasive barrier for most families (Lavelle et al., 2014; Maener et al., 2020). Given the unique context of Quebec and Canada at large, it is difficult to reliably draw comparisons between the Canadian context and studies conducted in the United States where healthcare services are commodified. We therefore look to two countries whose governance and regulation of healthcare services mirrors Canada: the United Kingdom (U.K.) and Sweden. In situating the findings from the present study within the global context, it is quite clear that the results remain consistent (Lavelle et al., 2014). For example, parents in the U.K. have cited healthcare costs for children with special needs are not only a major barrier, but a significant stressor. In Sweden, where healthcare costs are largely subsidized by the government much like Quebec, parents spend approximately \$73,700 during childhood and adolescence on therapy (Lavelle et al., 2014).

The literature also shows financial hardship is exacerbated by income loss associated with parents reducing their work hours or quitting altogether to support their children (Houser et

al., 2014; Montes & Halterman, 2008). While this did not appear to be a common issue among the parents in the present study, one parent reported she had to quit her job after her child was denied services at an early childhood education centre. There may be two possible explanations for this. The first corresponds to government-mandated quarantines imposed at the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, whereby parents were able to work remotely from home while still undertaking caregiving responsibilities. A second, and more likely, explanation is that Quebec funds programs and services that directly support children of different abilities (Ministère de l'Éducation et de l'Enseignement Supérieur [MEES], 2013). Special education programs in schools and daycares, for example, may have technicians, resource teachers, and other skilled professionals (e.g., occupational therapists, ABA therapists, speech therapists). Additionally, affordable daycare in Quebec may alleviate some of the financial burden, as parents can afford daycares with a curriculum adapted to neurodiverse children. As a result, there is less pressure for them to quit their job to assume caregiving responsibilities because they can afford to send their children to daycare.

Taken together, it is quite clear that the cost of supporting children with ASD remains a pervasive barrier that is consistent with scope of literature on this issue. Despite the efforts made by the Quebec government to expand its suite of services to support individuals with disabilities and diverse learners, there are still many structural and systemic issues (e.g., poor financial planning) that have tremendous financial repercussions for parents.

Lack of Information. Another challenge to emerge in the interviews was lack of information for parents of newly diagnosed children with ASD. Upon receiving a diagnosis, many parents did not receive adequate information from their healthcare provider (i.e., pediatrician) or specialist conducting the assessment. Instead, they were referred to external

resources like parent workshops and information sessions. The quality of such services left much to be desired, as the parents who attended these workshops felt that the content was not comprehensive enough and did not introduce new material that they had learned during the independent research they conducted. This had repercussions for parents. For example, one parent had delayed seeking therapy for her child because she did not know the best therapy to invest her time and money into. Another parent, for example, was placed on a waitlist for a parent workshop and was eventually removed because her daughter exceeded the age of four. Unfortunately, the results of the study are in line with the typical experience of parents seeking information upon receiving an ASD diagnosis for their children. Existing literature has found that receiving an ASD diagnosis is the source of emotional turmoil and incurs tremendous stress (Banach et al., 2010; McStay et al., 2014). While parents in this study did not feel frustrated or upset by a formal ASD diagnosis, they did feel overwhelmed because they did not know how to effectively proceed with the next steps. This is therefore consistent with existing literature that has shown parents incur a tremendous emotional toll educating themselves and learning about ASD, an issue that has since become more pronounced in the digital age (Rabba et al., 2020).

Participants in the present study stated that they had conducted their own research independently instead of seeking help from resource centers and parent workshops. This is consistent with current trends in the literature that has shown individuals are turning to Internet-based health services in droves (Rabba et al., 2020). For example, users accessing health-related services or research grew from 22% in 2014 to a staggering 46% in 2016-2017 based on one study conducted by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2016). While these results are based on Australian participants, many of the same trends have persisted within the global context. For example, studies have shown parents of children with ASD rely on

the Internet to learn about the disorder, its symptomology, strategies to support their children, and the different types of treatment modalities (Rabba et al., 2020). The shift towards digital aid has also impacted the types of supports parents themselves rely on. For example, a study of 674 parent volunteers found that of all the types of supports designed to support parents of children with special needs (e.g., workshops, parent training), informal socials supports, and social media were rated as the most helpful (Shepherd et al., 2020).

To conclude, the parents in the present study cited difficulties accessing reliable, current, and relevant information. Only a select few elected to pursue traditional forms of parent education in the form of parent workshops and coaching programs, though these experiences were not rated favorably. In the absence of accessible programs that aim to educate parents, the parents in the present study turned to the Internet which is in line with current research showing web-based health research has been trending upwards (Rabba et al., 2020). There are two possible explanations for this. Firstly, the long waitlists to receive education and information has left parents with no other choice than to conduct their own research independently. Secondly, one may ascertain that the COVID-19 pandemic and sudden closure of key social services left parents struggling to seek information to better understand their child's condition.

Language Barriers. Language barriers were another challenged cited by parents in the present study. The parents in the study were primarily Anglophone and, as Quebec's official language is French, the services are offered mostly in French, posing many challenges to surface in the interviews. These challenges manifested in two ways. Firstly, it was difficult for parents to communicate with the educators and specialists working with their children, as the language barriers made it hard for parents to discuss their children's needs, progress, and establish goals for intervention plans. Secondly, for parents in the process of obtaining specialized care, there

was a shortage of services that cater to English-speaking parents. Many of the services were offered in French and, within the English sector, there were few therapy centers or specialized clinics and even fewer sites with available space for new clients.

Language barriers are a well-chronicled obstacle to navigating the healthcare system for minority groups who do not speak the primary language of the region they inhabit (Stahmer et al., 2019; Timmins, 2002). Thus, as the parents in the present study comprise a language-minority group, experiencing language barriers is in line with existing research that has highlighted cross-cultural disparities in accessing critical services (Stahmer et al., 2019). While there is a paucity of literature that has explored the experience of language-minority groups in Quebec specifically, we look to trends in the United States to ascertain language barriers are a consistent challenge experienced by many ethnic, racial, and/or cultural minority groups. For example, Latinx families in the United States who speak English as a second language (ESL speakers) share similar struggles to the parents in the present study. It is difficult to communicate with therapists, specialists, and doctors to work in tandem to support the child's needs (Stahmer et al., 2019; St-Amant et al., 2017). The literature suggests that language barriers not only have implications for navigating and accessing services, but can also result in delayed diagnoses though the latter was not an issue that arose among participants in this study.

Professionalism and Competence Within the Public Sector. The parents in the present study raised several issues related to the quality of professionalism and competence in the public sector. One of the major critiques of professionals within the public sector is feeling as though they were not competent. For example, parents raised concerns over the inexperience of young professionals, as in some cases, they had never worked with children with special needs before. At present, there is no literature evaluating the quality of services within the public sector in

Quebec specifically. However, the results yielded in the present study are consistent with existing literature that shows there is a great need for improved training for aspiring therapists working with children with ASD. For example, one study found several serious gaps in the training curricula of professionals working with children with ASD, mainly related to lack of knowledge and skills to effectively address the symptoms of ASD and related comorbidities (Read & Schofield, 2010). Additionally, a recent study of 498 psychotherapists found that many specialists working with special needs populations had little knowledge about ASD (i.e., etiology, prevalence, prognosis), held outdated beliefs about the disorder, and/or had little experience conducting therapy with this group (Lipinski et al., 2022). Thus, it is quite clear that the pitfalls inexperienced technicians and poorly trained therapists lacking specialized training to work with individuals with special needs is not exclusive to Quebec.

With regard to professionalism, the literature suggests parents of racial, ethnic, and cultural minority groups are more likely to face racism from healthcare providers in the form of outward discrimination, neglecting patients' needs, and disregarding patients' consent by subjecting them to harmful and unnecessary procedures (Perera et al., 2018; Yalley et al., 2023). Within the context of ASD, Latinx children were diagnosed later than White children for a myriad of reasons (Lopez et al., 2020). There are many social determinants responsible for this discrepancy (e.g., socioeconomic status, geographical location, language barriers) (Lopez et al., 2020; Stahmer et al., 2019; Timmins, 2002). Another explanation, however, suggests stereotyping and covert racism from healthcare providers. While the parents in the present study identified as ethnic, racial, and/or cultural minorities, only one reported discrimination. This parent stated her pediatrician told her child's problematic behaviour was likely due to his Cuban ethnicity, and not because of a neurodevelopmental disorder.

Thus, it is quite clear that there are still many challenges associated with pursuing support within the public sector, even with the promise of subsidized, accessible services. These challenges are largely systemic and due to an overcrowded, underfunded healthcare system.

Based on the results of the present study, the challenges described are not due to participants' minority status, though it is difficult to ascertain whether this is the case based on one interview.

Research Aim II

A second objective of the present study was to assess whether an adapted version of PTA is effective at improving parents' knowledge of ASD, reduce parental stress, and increase parents' confidence in their caregiving ability. After completing the eight week-long workshops, parents were given the same questionnaires they were given prior to the commencement of the study. Overall, parents' knowledge increased following the completion of the workshop. For parental stress, half the participants (50%) experienced less stress post-workshop, 25% remained the same, and 25% observed an increase in parent stress. For parental efficacy, mixed results were obtained. Half (50%) of the sample's self-efficacy beliefs increased at post-test whereas the other half decreased.

Knowledge of ASD

Across all four parents in the study, knowledge of ASD increased, suggesting that the content of the program, structured activities, and take-home anchoring activities were successful at increasing parents' knowledge of ASD across the five dimensions: *Etiology and prevalence*, *symptoms/associated behaviours, assessment/diagnosis, treatment*, and *outcomes/prognosis*.

Overall, the findings are consistent with existing studies that have shown parent workshops are successful at increasing parents' knowledge of ASD, particularly from families of racial, ethnic, and cultural backgrounds who may hold preconceived notions about ASD (Wang

et al., 2022). In light of the COVID-19 pandemic, there is little literature exploring whether remote intervention (i.e., parent training) is as effective as traditional training programs at increasing parents' knowledge of ASD. However, a recent study by Wilkes-Gillan and Lincoln (2018) found that parent interventions delivered remotely are just as effective at improving parents' knowledge of ASD, specifically with respect to understanding their children's problematic behavioural and communication skills.

The success of this target measure may be attributed to the program's emphasis on understanding ASD, their children's behaviour, and learning evidence-based strategies to become more responsive and attuned to the needs of these children, which is consistent with the literature that has identified these as core tenets of successful interventions (Brian et al., 2022; Little et al., 2018; Wallace & Rogers, 2010). Specifically, parents are not only educated on ASD and related symptomology, but they can understand the behaviours of their children and learning their behavioural triggers through structured, reflection-based anchoring activities where parents synthesize and apply the concepts they have learned.

Regarding the PTA workshop specifically, several studies exploring its implications for caregivers' knowledge have been shown (Dabanah et al., 2021; Garcia-Torres & Magana, 2019; Magana et al., 2021a; Magana et al., 2021b). The findings of the present study are therefore consistent with the broader literature showing the PTA workshop may be an effective resource for improving caregivers' knowledge and understanding of ASD.

Parental Stress

The results yielded for parental stress were less unanimous, with half the participants (50%) experiencing less stress post-workshop, 25% reporting the same level of stress, and 25% increasing in post-test stress levels. Parental stress is a common occurrence among caregivers of

children with special needs (DePape & Lindsay, 2015; Tomiyama et al., 2018; Van Esch et al., 2018). Thus, decreasing parental stress by teaching parents' effective strategies at managing the challenges associated with caring for a child with special needs should be an essential goal of a successful parent training program (Magana et al., 2017a).

On one hand, 50% of the parents in the present study appeared to have benefited from the strategies outlined in the PTA program to manage parental stress. This suggests that, for these parents, learning about ASD, related strategies to manage their children's behaviour, and understand possible behavioural triggers were all instrumental at reducing parental anxiety. These results are at least partially consistent with existing literature on the efficacy of PTA, which has shown participants who participate in this workshop report lower levels of stress at post-test intervals (Magana et al., 2021a; Magana et al., 2021b). However, there is still variability in parents' parental stress. It is notable that the children of Parent 3 and 4 received the least amount of services of the parents in the present study. It is therefore likely that parent stress will not be reduced in the absence of reliable services that address their children's behaviour.

Regarding the parents whose stress levels either stayed the same or increased at the post-test interval, there are several possible explanations. Firstly, the content of the program did not target parental stress specifically, but rather taught parents how to effectively address their children's behaviour which, theoretically, should reduce stress levels. For example, the 'Hizen Parenting Skills Training' program aims to support parents of children with special needs by providing therapy, consultation, and education-based workshops (Iida et al., 2018). Despite its novel origins, the literature has shown it is successful at reducing paternal stress in caregivers of children 4-11 years old. Thus, it is possible that more specialized intervention is required to effectively reduce parental stress. Secondly, with government-mandated lockdowns and

restrictions, it is possible that parents were not able to effectively implement many of the strategies outlined in the program. For example, a common source of stress for parents of children with ASD is learning how to integrate the child into everyday social activities (Boyd et al., 2014). Thus, with lockdowns being implemented parents could not effectively implement these strategies. Finally, it is difficult to ascertain whether the program's content was not successful at reducing parental stress in light of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic led to a tremendous increase in household stress (Costa et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2021; Zhang, 2022), the likes of which have differentially impacted caregivers of children with special needs (Valderrama et al., 2022). It is possible that the contents of the program are insufficient at modulating the impact of the pandemic, which would explain why some of the parents in this study did not have less anxiety at post-test. Additionally, as parents become more knowledgeable about ASD and its related outcomes (i.e., prognosis, life-long and consistent intervention required) it is possible that parents may have begun feeling overwhelmed.

Taken together, it is difficult to determine why parental stress outcomes were variable among the participants in the present study. On one hand, half of the parents in the present study appeared to have benefited from the contents outlined in the PTA program. However, with half the group either performing the same or worse at post-test, we must consider how PTA and related programs fail to account for the current context of a pandemic. Specifically, with respect to the shift to remote work, suspended services, and increased destabilization within the home (Costa et al., 2022), future interventions should account for changes in the home.

Efficacy Beliefs

The 'CBSE' scale administered at pre- and post-test intervals contained three subscales: caregiver burden, satisfaction, and self-efficacy. Of relevance is their performance on the self-

efficacy subscale, which notably saw two parents improve at post-test intervals. For one parent, their self-efficacy beliefs decreased by one point and for another, by a staggering 3 points.

Parents whose self-efficacy beliefs improved at post-test are in line with the current literature on PTA's efficacy. Across several studies in the United States (i.e., Chicago and New York) and Columbia, PTA has shown to increase parents' self-efficacy beliefs (Dabanah et al., 2021; Magana et al., 2017a; Magana et al., 2017b). Thus, parents who complete the program not only feel more confident and competent in their caregiving ability, but they also have the requisite skillset to effectively advocate for their children across various sectors. Even when accounting for differences in how PTA is delivered (i.e., remotely versus on Zoom, fourteen weeks versus eight weeks, group-based versus individual sessions) (Garcia-Torres & Magana, 2019; Magana et al., 2021b), the literature suggests that parents who complete PTA have improved self-efficacy beliefs. Thus, the results are partially consistent with the scope of literature on PTA (Dabanah et al., 2021; Magana et al., 2017a; Magana et al., 2017b). However, for parents who performed worse, there are several possible explanations.

While parents' knowledge increased, parents becoming aware of gaps in their knowledge may have reduced their perceived ability to effectively care for their child. Given the existing link between parents' knowledge and self-efficacy beliefs, it is reasonable to suspect that the PTA program made participants cognizant of gaps in their own knowledge and strategies, which in turn incurred a negative toll on their self-efficacy beliefs (Bearss et al., 2015; Kalalo et al., 2021; Mukhtar et al., 2018). Another potential explanation for this outcome is that the program does not allow for parents to employ mindfulness strategies, which the literature has shown improves emotion regulation, emotion intelligence, the quality of interpersonal relationships, and self-efficacy beliefs in parents of children with special needs (Curl & Hampton, 2023). The

findings from a study conducted by Curl and Hampton (2023) aimed to evaluate the efficacy of the 'Mindful Self-Compassion' workshop. After completing the brief (i.e., 3-day), virtual workshop, parents observed improvements in mindfulness and self-compassion, which allowed them to have greater self-efficacy beliefs at post-test intervals. Thus, while the PTA workshop has anchoring activities intended to elicit reflection from parents, it is possible these activities were too open-ended and parents would, instead, benefit from more structured intervention that targets mindfulness and self-efficacy beliefs. For example, activities that focus on mindfulness and self-compassion which, according to existing literature (Curl & Hampton 2023; Kurzok et al., 2021; Lunsky et al., 2021), are critical skills implicated in self-efficacy beliefs.

Limitations

Despite strategies employed to account for methodological limitations of qualitative inquiry, several limitations to the present study persist. Firstly, only one semi-structured interview with each parent was conducted prior to beginning the workshop. In this interview, parents were asked a great deal about the services they relied on, their satisfaction with these services, and any related challenges. However, they were not asked about COVID-19 and how this may have accounted for some of these challenges. Secondly, findings from qualitative inquiry are often context-specific and, at times, interpretations and explanations of a participant's experience are unique to them (Khankeh et al., 2015). On one hand, this individualization is a strength when amplifying the voices of those in need, however it brings into question the validity of the findings and their subsequent generalizability (Anderson, 2010).

Another limitation of the present study refers to the sampling technique employed. The use of purposive sampling to recruit participants presents an issue with respect to accessibility.

As no compensation was offered, the participants in the present study therefore had the resources

(i.e., time) to participate in the present study which may have been a barrier for other parents who might not have the same resources and were therefore not able to participate. Additionally, while flyers were distributed through local social centres within the city, the bulk of participants in the present study were recruited from a Facebook support group for parents of children with special needs. As a result, they may not entirely be representative of the population of interest (i.e., ethnically parents of children with special needs). The parents in this study were also recruited from Montreal, a metropolitan city with access to a myriad of services. This is therefore not inclusive of all parents of children with special needs in Quebec, especially those from rural communities, who may have their own unique challenges with stigma and accessibility.

With respect to *Phase II*, the descriptive statistics conducted suggest that PTA is an effective intervention modality to support parents' knowledge growth, reducing parental stress, and improving self-efficacy beliefs. However, whether these findings were statistically significant is to left unknown, as the small sample size does not lend itself to inferential statistics.

It also must be noted that being a member of a racial, ethnic, and/or cultural minority group is not a monolith. Within each ethnic group is unique challenges that differentially impact members of these groups. For example, the literature suggests children of Asian descent often have different challenges (e.g., misconceptions about ASD etiology that impact the likelihood of seeking support) (Kang-Yi et al., 2018; Sritharan & Koola, 2019) compared to those of Latinx descent (e.g., language barriers associated with a later age of diagnosis) (St. Amant et al., 2017).

Future Directions

There are several recommendations to consider for future research. Firstly, future studies should explore the efficacy of PTA using a homogeneous ethnic sample. This is because, as discussed, ethnic and racial minorities do not comprise a monolith and it is critical to ensure the

needs of specific ethnic groups are addressed properly. Secondly, future research should also aim to recruit parents from both urban and rural geographical regions. At present, PTA has been conducted in major metropolitan cities (e.g., Chicago, New York). For residents in rural communities, there is much to learn about their needs and whether they would benefit from a parent training program in the same way parents from more urban communities would. Thirdly, regarding *Phase I*, future research should conduct more interviews and focus groups with participants both at pre- and post-test intervals. For pre-test, it would be beneficial to understand the role of COVID-19 and how this phenomenon has impacted parents and the services they relied on at the time of the study. It would also allow researchers to determine what the specific needs and expectations of parents are prior to beginning the program. Thus, modifications, if any, could be made to maximally benefit participants. For post-test, conducting focus groups with parents would be beneficial to identify their satisfactions with the program, as well as document any recommendations for future PTA sessions.

A fourth recommendation regarding *Phase I* would be to increase the sample size so that inferential statistics can be conducted to determine effect size and power. This is especially critical to ensure that the outcomes associated with the PTA workshop are statistically significant. A fifth recommendation would be to consider social determinants that may attenuate outcomes. For example, the social determinants of health (e.g., socioeconomic status, family size, education level, housing situation, and food security) may mediate the effectiveness of the PTA workshop (Islam, 2019). Without controlling for these variables, it is difficult to determine which groups benefit most from parent training. A sixth, and final, recommendation is to pilot the effectiveness of PTA as a self-guided workbook. For many parents, associated time and resource constraints with accessing a live parent training program presented a barrier. Self-

guided self-help programs, especially in the digital age, are a relatively new phenomenon that has yielded promising results (Kumar et al., 2017). It would therefore be beneficial to pilot PTA as a workbook so that parents who do not have the means to attend weekly sessions could also benefit from the program.

Implications

The present study has several implications for research, practice, and public policy. In terms of research, the results suggest that there is still significant work needed to be done in the field of parent training, specifically as it relates to cultural adaptation and intersectionality. As we begin to employ an intersectional lens to support families of different racial, ethnic, and cultural orientations, it is critical to contribute to literature that aims to understand how certain groups may be differentially impacted. Thus, a hope of this study is that it will inform future studies exploring the efficacy of PTA by integrating the results to identify which areas of the program can be improved upon. Specifically, a hope is that future studies will troubleshoot the shortcomings of the workshop so that it may maximally benefit different types of families.

Regarding practice, the present study demonstrates the importance of employing materials that are culturally adapted to different ethnic groups. The findings from the study have implications for clinical, applied practice as professionals ought to think about the types of materials they use to support families and whether they are attuned to the needs of ethnically diverse groups. As the findings reveal, parents from different ethnic, racial, and cultural minority groups benefit a great deal from parent training that is developed for and by people who understand the plight of belonging to a marginalized group. Thus, while social determinants of health may result in differential health outcomes and disparities in service access, the results of

the present study speak to the importance of addressing these disparities directly by providing equitable, culturally-sensitive resources.

Finally, this study has implications for public policy, as many of the challenges associated with accessing services have been identified. The results clearly support the notion that there is not enough being done to mobilize caregivers, stakeholders, and advocates. Parents have worked diligently to advocate for their children and, in most cases, compromise financially to ensure their children are receiving services in the private sector that the government should be providing for free within the public sector. A hope is that the findings from this study will, at the very least, generate a discourse on the importance of investing in special education and policies that promote inclusivity. Specifically, we hope that the government will recognize the need for more services that are culturally attuned to the needs of ethnically diverse groups. There is much to be done in terms of improving coordination between policymakers, advocates, and stakeholders but we hope the findings from the present study indicate the need for this overhaul.

Conclusion

The present study had two central aims. Firstly, to identify the types of supports ethnically diverse parents of children with ASD rely on, the quality of these services, and the challenges they face when navigating these services. Secondly, to test the efficacy of a culturally-adapted parent training program with three target objectives: (*i*) Increase parents' knowledge of ASD, (*ii*) Reduce parental stress, (*iii*) increase parents' self-efficacy. In all, five parents elected to participate in *Phase I*, with one parent dropping out in *Phase II*.

The findings from *Phase I* indicate parents rely on several services offered by healthcare providers, education specialists, and social service programs to support their children. The most common service access to obtain a diagnosis was from a specialized psychoeducational centre,

not by a healthcare provider through the medical system. Once a diagnosis was obtained, parents solicited help from several specialists, including ABA therapists, speech therapists, occupational therapists, and special education aids. The majority of parents in this study relied on a mix of both private and public services, with only two parents relying exclusively on free, government-subsidized educational programs through the child's school. However, it must be noted that most parents opted for private care in the interim waiting for space in the public sector. With respect to the challenges that emerged, many parents shared the same issues: long waitlists, absence of information following a diagnosis, inaccessibility of private care (i.e., financial constraints) and language barriers, and issues within the public sector (e.g., lack of resources, poorly trained specialists, overcrowded services within the child's school).

In *Phase II*, all four parents' knowledge of ASD increased at post-test, suggesting the content of the PTA workshop is an effective tool to improve parents' understanding of ASD symptomology, etiology and prevalence, prognosis and outcome, and treatment. These findings are consistent with not only the literature that has shown structured workshops are an effective way to improve parents' knowledge of ASD (Deb et al., 2020), but also speak to PTA's efficacy (Magana et al., 2017a; Magana et al., 2017b). Regarding parent stress, half the parents in the present study improved at post-test, suggesting that parents benefited from PTA either directly from the stress management strategies provided, or from their increased knowledge and understanding of ASD. However, one parent remained the same at post-test and another parent performed worse (i.e., felt more stressed after completing the program). Though difficult to ascertain why this may be, it is possible the stress management techniques outlined in the PTA program were simply not enough, or the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic made it so the content attuned to the needs of parents within the context of a pandemic. Finally, self-efficacy

yielded similar mixed results, with half the parents in the present study having improved self-efficacy and the other group regressing. It is possible that the content in the PTA program does not emphasize self-efficacy directly, instead focusing on teaching parents new skills rather than building their confidence and perceived self-competence of their current skillset through mindfulness. Finally, it is likely that parents' exposure to new content, strategies, and information about ASD highlighted gaps in their own skillset and knowledge, which would have incurred negative repercussions for their self-efficacy beliefs.

To conclude, the present study has illuminated a great deal about the types of supports caregivers of children with ASD rely on, as well as their satisfaction with these services. In interviewing these parents, many of the challenges associated with accessing healthcare services in Quebec have come to light. To better support these parents, an adapted version of the PTA workshop was administered. With PTA in its infancy, the findings from the present study overall are consistent with the literature exploring its efficacy. This suggests a positive, bright direction for PTA and culturally-adapted services in general.

References

- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Aishworiya, R., Valica, T., Hagerman, R., & Restrepo, B. (2022). An update on psychopharmacological treatment of autism spectrum disorder. *Neurotherapeutics: The Journal of the American Society for Experimental NeuroTherapeutics*, 19(1), 248–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-022-01183-1
- Alhomaizi A., Alhomaizi D., Willis S., & Verdeli H. (2021). Social distancing in the era of COVID-19: A call for maintaining social support for the maternal population. *Global Health: Science and Practice*, 9(2), 229-237. https://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-20-00398
- Altiere, M.J., & Von Kluge, S. (2009). Searching for acceptance: Challenges encountered while raising a child with autism. *Journal of Intellectual Developmental Disabilities*, *34*(2), 142-152. https://doi.org/10.1080/13668250902845202
- Anderson, C. (2010). Presenting and evaluating qualitative research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 74(8), 141. https://doi.org/10.5688/aj7408141
- Andrade, C. (2021). The inconvenient truth about convenience and purposive samples. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 43(1), 86–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0253717620977000
- Andrade, C. (2018). Internal, external, and ecological validity in research design, conduct, and evaluation. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, 40(5), 498–499.

 https://doi.org/10.4103/IJPSYM.IJPSYM_334_18
- Archibong, V., Usman, I. M., Kasozi, K. I., Aigbogun, E. O., Jr, Josiah, I., Monima, A. L., Ssebuufu, R., Chekwech, G., Terkimbi, S. D., Owoisinke, O., Mbiydzenyuy, N. E.,

- Adeoye, A., Aruwa, J. O., Afodun, A. M., Odoma, S., Ssempijja, F., Ayikobua, E. T., Ayuba, J. T., Nankya, V., Onongha, C., ... Welburn, S. C. (2021). Anxiety, anger and depression amongst low-income earners in Southwestern Uganda during the COVID-19 total lockdown. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *9*, 590458. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.590458
- Ariste, R., & di Matteo, L. (2021). Non-official language concordance in urban Canadian medical practice: Implications for care during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Healthcare Policy*, 16(4), 84–96. https://doi.org/10.12927/hcpol.2021.26497
- Aston, H.J. (2014). An ecological model of mental health promotion for school communities:

 Adolescent views about mental health promotion in secondary schools in the UK.

 International Journal of Mental Health Promotion, 16(5), 289-307.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14623730.2014.963402
- Aylaz, R., Yilmaz, U., & Polat, S. (2012). Effects of difficulties experienced by parents of autistic children on their sexual life: A qualitative study. *Sexual Disabilities*, 30(4), 395-406. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11195-011-9251-3
- Azad, G., Wolk, C. B., & Mandell, D. S. (2018). Ideal interactions: Perspectives of parents and teachers of children with autism spectrum disorder. *School Community Journal*, 28(2), 63–84.
- Banach, M., Iudice, J., Conway, L., & Couse, L.J. (2010). Family support and empowerment:

 Post autism diagnosis support group for parents. *Social Work With Groups*, *33*(1), 69-83. https://doi.org/10.1080/01609510903437383

- Bailey, D., Hebbeler, K., Olmstead, M., Raspa, M., & Bruder, M. (2008). Measuring family outcomes: Considerations for large-scale data collection in early intervention. *Infants & Young Children*, 23, 194–206.
- Banda, D. R. (2015). Review of sibling interventions with children with autism. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 50(3), 303-315.
- Bearss, K., Burrell, T. L., Stewart, L., & Scahill, L. (2015). Parent training in autism spectrum disorder: What's in a Name? *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, *18*(2), 170–182. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-015-0179-5
- Begum, R., & Mamin, F.A. (2019). Impact of autism spectrum disorder on family. *Autism Open Access*, 9(4), 1-6.
- Bekhet, A. K., Johnson, N. L., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2012). Resilience in family members of persons with autism spectrum disorder: A review of the literature. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 33(10), 650–656. https://doi.org/10.3109/01612840.2012.671441
- Benallie, K. J., McClain, M. B., Harris, B., & Schwartz, S. E. (2020). Validation of the ASKS-G with a parent sample in the United States. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(12), 4557–4565. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04480-w
- Bernal, G., Jiménez-Chafey, M. I., & Domenech Rodríguez, M. M. (2009). Cultural adaptation of treatments: A resource for considering culture in evidence-based practice. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 40(4), 361–368. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0016401
- Boyd, B. A., McCarty, C. H., & Sethi, C. (2014). Families of children with autism: A synthesis of family routines literature. *Journal of Occupational Science*, 21(3), 322–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/14427591.2014.908816

- Brian, J., Drmic, I., Roncadin, C., Dowds, E., Shaver, C., Smith, I. M., Zwaigenbaum, L., Sacrey, L. R., & Bryson, S. E. (2022). Effectiveness of a parent-mediated intervention for toddlers with autism spectrum disorder: Evidence from a large community implementation. *Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice*, Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211068934
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist*, 32(7), 513-531. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.32.7.513
- Brown, J. (1999). Bowen family systems theory and practice: Illustration and critique. *Australian* and *New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, 20, 94-103.
- Butler, A. M., & Titus, C. (2015). Systematic review of engagement in culturally adapted parent training for disruptive behavior. *Journal of Early Intervention*, *37*(4), 300–318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815115620210
- Campbell, J.M., Barger, B.D. (2014). Peers' knowledge about and attitudes towards students with autism spectrum disorders. In: Patel, V., Preedy, V., & Martin, C. (Eds.)

 Comprehensive guide to autism (pp. 247-261). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4788-7
- Campos G., Jose, A., Ortega, A.P., & Vargas-Chanes, D. (2020). Children's microsystems and their relationship to stress and executive functioning. *Frontiers in Psychology, 11*. http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00996
- Chaidez, V., Hansen, R. L., & Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2014). Gastrointestinal problems in children with autism, developmental delays or typical development. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 44(5), 1117–1127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-1973-x Charmaz, K. (2014). *Constructing grounded theory* (2nd ed.). SAGE.

- Chasson, G., Jarosiewicz, S.R. (2014). Social competence impairments in autism spectrum disorders. In: Patel, V., Preedy, V., & Martin, C. (Eds.) *Comprehensive guide to autism* (pp. 1099-1188). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4788-7_60
- Cherry, K. (2020, September 17). What does the acronym BIPOC mean? Verywell Mind.

 Retrieved July 15, 2022, from https://www.verywellmind.com/what-is-bipoc-5025158
- Chen, L.-S., Min, J., Zhao, S., Yeh, Y.-C., & Huang, T.-Y. (2019). Information needs in genetic testing: A needs assessment survey among Taiwanese parents of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Autism*, 23(4), 902–909. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361318778903
- Clark, S., McGrane, A., Boyle, N., Joksimovic, N., Burke, L., Rock, N., & O'Sullivan, K. (2020). "You're a teacher you're a mother, you're a worker": Gender inequality during COVID-19 in Ireland. *Gender, Work, & Organization, 28*(4), 1352-1362.https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12611
- Costa, P., Cruz, A.C., Alves, A., Ridrigues, M.C., & Ferguson, R. (2022). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on young children and their caregivers. *Child: Care, Health, & Development*, 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12980
- Craig, L., & Churchill, B. (2020). Dual-earner parent couples' work and care during COVID-19.

 Gender Work and Organization, 28(1), 66-79. https://doi.org/10.1111/gwao.12497
- Cridland, E. K., Jones, S. C., Magee, C. A., & Caputi, P. (2014). Family-focused autism spectrum disorder research: A review of the utility of family systems approaches. *Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice*, 18(3), 213–222.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361312472261

- Curl, E. L., & Hampton, L. H. (2023). Virtual mindfulness workshops for parents of children on the autism spectrum. *Journal of Early Intervention*. https://doi.org/10.1177/10538151231169950
- Dababnah, S., Shaia, W. E., Kim, I., & Magaña, S. (2021). Parents taking action: Adapting a peer-to-peer program for parents raising black children with autism. *Inclusion*, 9(3), 205-224.
- Deb, S. S., Retzer, A., Roy, M., Acharya, R., Limbu, B., & Roy, A. (2020). The effectiveness of parent training for children with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *BMC Psychiatry*, 20(1), 583. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-020-02973-7
- DeFilippis, M., & Wagner, K. D. (2016). Treatment of autism spectrum disorder in children and adolescents. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin*, 46(2), 18–41.
- DeGrace, B.W. (2004). The everyday occupation of families with children with autism.

 American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 58(5), 543-550.
- DePape, A. M., & Lindsay, S. (2015). Parents' experiences of caring for a child with autism spectrum disorder. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(4), 569–583. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732314552455
- Derguy, C., Michel, G., M'bailara, K., Roux, S., & Bouvard, M. (2015). Assessing needs in parents of children with autism spectrum disorder: A crucial preliminary step to target relevant issues for support programs. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, 40(2), 156–166. https://doi.org/10.3109/13668250.2015.1023707
- DesChamps, T.D., Ibañez, L.V., Edmunds, S.R., Dick, C.C., & Stone, W.L. (2019). Parenting stress in caregivers of young children with ASD concerns prior to formal diagnosis.

 *Autism Research, 13(1), 82-92. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2213

- Dillenburger, K., Keenan, M., Doherty, A., Byrne, T., & Gallagher, S. (2012). ABA-based programs for children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder: Parental and professional experiences at school and at home. *Child and Family Behavior Therapy*, 34(2), 111-129. https://doi.org/10.1080/07317107.2012.684645
- Dillenburger, K., Keenan, M., Doherty, A., Byrne, J., & Gallagher, S. (2010). Living with children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder: Parental and professional views. *British Journal of Special Education*, 37(1), 13–23.
- Divan, G., Vajaratkhar, V., Desai, M. U., Strik-Lievers, L., & Patel, V. (2012). Challenges, coping strategies, and unmet needs of families with a child with autism spectrum disorder in Goa, India. *Autism Research*, *5*(3), 190-200.
- Durán-Pacheco, G., Silkey, M., Johnson, M., Liu, C., Clinch, S., Law, K., & Loss, G. (2022).

 Effect of children's autism spectrum disorder severity on family strain and sleep quality:

 A cross-sectional online survey in the U.S. *Journal of Autism and Developmental*Disorders. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-022-05457-7
- Elliott, S., & Davis, J.M. (2018). Challenging taken-for-granted ideas in early childhood education: A critique of Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory in the age of post-humanism. In Cutter-Mackenzie, A. (Eds.) *Research handbook of childhood nature*.

 Springer International Handbook of Education.
- Eriksson, M., Ghazinour, M., & Hammarström, A. (2018). Different uses of Bronfenbrenner's ecological theory in public mental health research: What is their value for guiding public mental health policy and practice? *Social Theory & Health*, *16*, 414-433.

 https://doi.org/10.1057/s41285-018-0065-6

- Farré, L., Fawaz, Y., González, L., & Graves, J. (2021). Gender inequality in paid and unpaid work during COVID-19 times. The *Review of Income and Wealth*, 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1111/roiw.12563
- Favez, N., Frascarolo, F., & Tissot, H. (2017). The family alliance model: A way to study and characterize early family interactions. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01441
- Fletcher, P.C., Markoulakis, R., & Bryden, P.J. (2012). The costs of caring for a child with an autism spectrum disorder. *Issues in Comprehensive Pediatric Nursing*, 35(1), 45-69.
- Galpin, J., Barratt, P., Ashcroft, E., Greathead, S., Kenny, L., & Pellicano, E. (2018). "The dots just don't join up": Understanding the support needs of families of children on the autism spectrum. *Autism*, 22(5), 571–584. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361316687989
- Grigorenko, E., Compton, D., Fuchs, S., & Wagner, R. (2019). Understanding, educating and supporting children with specific learning disabilities: 50 years of science and practice.

 *American Psychologist, 75(1), 37-51. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/amp0000452
- Hays, D.G. & Singh, A.A. (2012). Introduction to qualitative inquiry. In *Qualitative inquiry in clinical and educational settings* (pp. 3-31). The Guilford Press.
- Hayes, N., O'Toole, L., & Halpenny, A. M. (2017). *Introducing Bronfenbrenner: A guide for practitioners and students in early years education*. Taylor & Francis.
- Hayes, S. A., & Watson, S. L. (2013). The impact of parenting stress: A meta-analysis of studies comparing the experience of parenting stress in parents of children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43(3), 629–642. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-012-1604-y

- Household Use of Information Technology, Australia, 2016-17. Australian Bureau of Statistics,

 Australian Government. 2016. URL: http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/8146.0

 [accessed April 22, 2023].
- Houser, L., McCarthy, M., Lawer, L., & Mandell, D. (2014). A challenging fit: Employment, childcare, and therapeutic support in families of children with autism spectrum disorders.

 *Journal of Social Service, 40(5), 681-698. https://doi.org/10.1080/01488376.2014.930944
- Huang, H., Hong, J.S., & Espelage, D.L. (2013). Understanding factors associated with bullying and peer victimization in Chinese schools within ecological contexts. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 22, 881-892. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-012-9647-4
- Hwang, T. J., Rabheru, K., Peisah, C., Reichman, W., & Ikeda, M. (2020). Loneliness and social isolation during the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *32*(10), 1217–1220. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610220000988
- Holmes, E. A., O'Connor, R.C., Hugh, P. V., ... Bullmore, E. (2020). Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic: A call for action for mental health science. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 7, 574-560.
- Ingersoll, B., Shannon, K., Berger, N., Pickard, K., & Holtz, B. (2017). Self-directed telehealth parent-mediated intervention for children with autism spectrum disorder: Examination of the potential reach and utilization in community settings. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 19(7). https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.7484

- Islam M. M. (2019). Social determinants of health and related inequalities: Confusion and implications. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 7, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2019.00011
- Johnson, Benjamin & Ray, Wendel. (2016). *Family Systems Theory*. In: The Wiley Blackwell Encyclopedia of family studies. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/9781119085621.wbefs130
- Kaiser, K., Villalobos, M. E., Locke, J., Iruka, I. U., Proctor, C., & Boyd, B. (2022). A culturally grounded autism parent training program with Black parents. *Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice*, *26*(3), 716–726. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211073373
- Kalalo, R. T., Yuniar, S., & Ariyanto, F. C. (2021). Effect of parental skills-based psychoeducation intervention on parental stress index and severity of children with autism spectrum disorders: A pilot study. *Annals of Medicine and Surgery*, 70, 102873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2021.102873
- Kang-Yi, C. D., Grinker, R. R., Beidas, R., Agha, A., Russell, R., Shah, S. B., Shea, K., & Mandell, D. S. (2018). Influence of community-level cultural beliefs about autism on families' and professionals' care for children. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 55(5), 623–647. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461518779831
- Keen, D., Webster, A., & Ridley, G. (2015). How well are children with autism spectrum disorder doing academically at school? An overview of the literature. *Autism*, 20(3), 276–294. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361315580962
- Khankeh, H., Ranjbar, M., Khorasani-Zavareh, D., Zargham-Boroujeni, A., & Johansson, E. (2015). Challenges in conducting qualitative research in health: A conceptual paper. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, 20(6), 635–641. https://doi.org/10.4103/1735-9066.170010

- Kirkham, P. (2017). The line between intervention and abuse autism and applied behaviour analysis. *History of the Human Sciences*, 30(2), 107-126.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0952695117702571
- Kuhn, J. L., Vanegas, S. B., Salgado, R., Borjas, S. K., Magana, S., & Smith DaWalt, L. (2020). The cultural adaptation of a transition program for Latino families of youth with autism spectrum disorder. *Family Process*, *59*(2), 477-491. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12439.
- Kumar, V., Sattar, Y., Bseiso, A., Khan, S., & Rutkofsky, I. H. (2017). The effectiveness of internet-based cognitive behavioral therapy in treatment of psychiatric disorders. *Cureus*, 9(8), e1626. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.1626
- Kurth, J. A., Love, H., & Pirtle, J. (2020). Parent perspectives of their involvement in IEP development for children with autism. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 35(1), 36–46. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088357619842858
- Kurzrok J., McBride E., & Grossman R. B. (2021). Autism-specific parenting self-efficacy: An examination of the role of parent-reported intervention involvement, satisfaction with intervention related training, and caregiver burden. *Autism*, 25(5), 1395–1408. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361321990931
- Heller, T., Miller, A. B., & Hseih, K. (1999). Impact of a consumer-directed family support program on adults with developmental disabilities and their family caregivers. *Family Relations*, 48, 419–427.
- Lavelle, T. A., Weinstein, M. C., Newhouse, J. P., Munir, K., Kuhlthau, K. A., & Prosser, L. A. (2014). Economic burden of childhood autism spectrum disorders. *Pediatrics*, *133*(3), 520–529. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2013-0763

- Lee, V., Albaum, C., Tablon Modica, P., Ahmad, F., Gorter, J. W., Khanlou, N., McMorris, C.,
 Lai, J., Harrison, C., Hedley, T., Johnston, P., Putterman, C., Spoelstra, M., & Weiss, J.
 A. (2021). The impact of COVID-19 on the mental health and wellbeing of caregivers of autistic children and youth: A scoping review. *Autism Research: Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research*, 14(12), 2477–2494.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2616
- Leedham, A.T., Thompson, A.R., & Freeth, M. (2020). A thematic synthesis of siblings' lived experiences of autism: Distress, responsibilities, compassion, and connection. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 97(103547). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2019.103547
- Lipinski, S., Boegl, K., Blanke, E. S., Suenkel, U., & Dziobek, I. (2022). A blind spot in mental healthcare? Psychotherapists lack education and expertise for the support of adults on the autism spectrum. *Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice*, 26(6), 1509–1521. https://doi.org/10.1177/13623613211057973
- Little, L. A., Pope, E., Wallisch, A., & Dunn, W. (2018). Occupation-based coaching by means of telehealth for families of young children with autism spectrum disorder. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 72(2), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2018.024786
- Liu, B. (2015). Sentiment analysis: Mining opinions, sentiments, and emotions. Cambridge:

 Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/CBO9781139084789
- Lopez, K., Marroquin, J. M., & Gutierrez, C. (2020). Methods to decrease disparities in age of autism diagnosis and treatment access among Latinx children. *Social Work*, 65(2), 140–148. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/swaa012
- Lunsky Y., Albaum C., Baskin A., Hastings R. P., Hutton S., Steel L., Wang W., & Weiss J. (2021). Group virtual mindfulness-based intervention for parents of autistic adolescents

- and adults. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 51, 3959–3969. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04835-3
- Luong, J., Yoder, M.K., & Canham, D. (2009). Southeast Asian parents raising a child with autism: A qualitative investigation of coping styles. *Journal of School Nursing*, 25(3), 222-229.
- Maenner, M. J, Shaw, K.A., Baio J., & Dietz, P. M. (2020). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorder among children aged 8 years Autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 11 sites, United States, 2016. *MMWR Surveillance Summaries*, 67(60), 1–12. http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss6904a1
- Magaña, S., Dababnah, S., Xu, Y., Garcia, M., Rieth, S., Corsello, C., Rangel, E., Brookman-Frazee, L., & Vanegas, S. (2021a). Cultural adaptations of a parent training program for families of children with ASD/IDD: Parents taking action. *International Review of Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 61, 263-300.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irrdd.2021.07.005
- Magaña, S., Lopez, K., & Machalicek, W. (2017). Parents taking action: A psycho-educational intervention for Latino parents of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Family Process*, *56*(1), 59–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/famp.12169
- Magaña, S., Lopez, K., Aguinaga, A., & Morton, H. (2013). Access to diagnosis and treatment services among Latino children with autism spectrum disorders. *Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, *51*(3), 141–153. https://doi.org/10.1352/1934-9556-51.3.141
- Magaña, S., Tejero Hughes, M., Salkas, K., Gonzales, W., Nunez, G., & Morales, M. (2021b).

 Implementing a parent education intervention in Colombia: Assessing parent outcomes

- and perceptions across delivery modes. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 36(3), 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088357620986947.
- Mandell, D. S., Listerud, J., Levy, S. E., & Pinto-Martin, J. A. (2002). Race differences in the age at diagnosis among Medicaid-eligible children with autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 41(12), 1447–1453.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200212000-00016
- Marsack-Topolewski C. N. (2020). A snapshot of social support networks among parental caregivers of adults with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 50(4), 1111–1122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04285-6
- Mason, J. (2002). *Qualitative researching* (2nd ed.). SAGE.
- Mazzoni, S., Veronesi, C., Vismara, L., Laghi, F., & Philip, D. (2018). Family coordination in families who have a child with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 27(9), 3107-3116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1191-4
- McClain, M. B., Harris, B., Schwartz, S. E., Benallie, K. J., Golson, M. E., & Benney, C. M.
 (2019). Brief report: Development and validation of the autism spectrum knowledge scale general population version: Preliminary analyses. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49(7), 3007–3015. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-019-04019-8
- McDougal, E., Riby, D. M., & Hanley, M. (2020). Profiles of academic achievement and attention in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *106*, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2020.103749
- McPherson, G. (1990). Statistics in scientific investigation: Its basis, application and interpretation. New York, Springer-Verlag.

- McStay, R.L., Trembath, D., & Dissanayake, C. (2014). Maternal stress and family quality of life in response to raising a child with autism: From preschool to adolescence. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 35(11), 3119-3130.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2014.07.043
- Meirsschaut, M., Roeyers, H., & Warreyn, P. (2010). Parenting in families with a child with autism spectrum disorder and a typically developing child: Mothers' experience and cognitions. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 4(4), 661-669.
- Milligan, C. (2005). Placing narrative correspondence in the geographer's toolbox: Insights from care research in New Zealand. *New Zealand Geographer*, *61*(3), 213-224.
- Moed, A., Dix, T., Anderson, E. R., & Greene, S. M. (2017). Expressing negative emotions to children: Mothers' aversion sensitivity and children's adjustment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *31*(2), 224–233. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000239
- Moes, D. R., & Frea, W. D. (2002). Contextualized behavioral support in early intervention for children with autism and their families. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 32(6), 519–533. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1021298729297
- Montes, G., Halterman, J. S. (2008). Association of childhood autism spectrum disorder and loss of family income. *Pediatrics*, *121*(4). https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2007-1594
- Montes, G., Halterman, J. S. (2008). Child care problems and employment among families with preschool-aged children with autism in the United States. *Pediatrics*, *122* (1), 202-208. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2007-3037
- Mukhtar, S. (2020). Psychological health during the Coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic outbreak. *The International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 66(5), 512–516. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020764020925835

- Mukhtar, D. Y., Hastjarjo, T.D., Kumara, A., & Adiyanti, M.G. (2018). Psychoeducation group for parents who raise a child with autism spectrum disorder. *The International Journal of Counseling and Education*, 3(1), 28-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.irrdd.2021.07.005
- Nardon, L., Hari, A., Zhang, H., Hoselton, L.P.S. & Kuzhabekova, A. (2022). Skilled immigrant women's career trajectories during the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada. *Equality*,

 *Diversity, and Inclusion, 41(1),112-128. https://doi.org/10.1108/EDI-09-2020-0255
- Nelson, J. (2020). Age and social vulnerability in the context of Coronavirus. https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/557dcd77ad504d5faec7e2c5506c86e0
- Newman, B.M., & Newman, P.R. (2020). Ecological theories. In Newman, B.M., & Newman, P.R. (Eds.), *Theories of adolescent development* (pp. 315-335). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815450-2.00011-5
- Nicholas, D. B., Mitchell, W., Dudley, C., Clarke, M., & Zulla, R. (2018). An ecosystem approach to employment and autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(1), 264–275. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3351-6
- Nguyen, T., Wallerstein, N., Das, R., Sabado-Liwag, M., Jernigan, V., & Jacob, T. (2021).

 Conducting community-based participatory research with minority communities to reduce disparities. In I. Dankwa-Mullan, E. Perez-Stable, K. Gardner, X. Zhang, & A. Rosario (Eds.), *The science of health disparities research*. Wiley Blackwell.
- Ngwakongnwi, E., Hemmelgarn, B. R., Musto, R., King-Shier, K. M., & Quan, H. (2012). Language barriers: Use of regular medical doctors by Canada's official language minorities. *Canadian Family*, *58*(12), 709–716.
- Ouellette-Kuntz, H. M., Coo, H., Lam, M., Yu, C. T., Breitenbach, M. M., Hennessey, P. E., Holden, J. J., Brown, H. K., Noonan, A. L., Gauthier, R. B., & Crews, L. R. (2009). Age

- at diagnosis of autism spectrum disorders in four regions of Canada. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 100(4), 268–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03403945
- Pellicano, E., Dinsmore, A., & Charman, T. (2014). What should autism research focus upon?

 Community views and priorities from the United Kingdom. *Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice*, *18*(7), 756–770.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361314529627
- Penner, M., Anagnostou, E., & Ungar, W. J. (2018). Practice patterns and determinants of wait time for autism spectrum disorder diagnosis in Canada. *Molecular Autism*, 9(16). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-018-0201-0
- Perera, D., Lund, R., Swahnberg, K., Schei, B., Infanti, J. J., & ADVANCE study team (2018).
 'When helpers hurt': Women's and midwives' stories of obstetric violence in state health institutions, Colombo district, Sri Lanka. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, 18(1), 211.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-018-1869-z
- Predescu, M., Al Ghazi, L., & Darjan, I. (2018). An ecological approach of autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Educational Sciences*, *2*(38), 31-43.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.35923/JES.2018.2.03
- Prendeville, P., & Kinsella, W. (2019). The role of grandparents in supporting families of children with autism spectrum disorders: A family systems approach. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 49(2), 738–749. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-018-3753-0
- Priest, J. (2021). *The science of family systems theory*. Routledge: Taylor & Francis Group. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780367854591

- Rabba, A.S., Disanayake, C., & Barbaro, J. (2020). Development of a web-based resource for parents of young children newly diagnosed with autism: Participatory research design.

 JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, e15786. https://doi.org/10.2196%2F15786
- Read, N., & Schofield, A. (2010). Autism: Are mental health services failing children and parents? *The Journal of Family Health Care*, 20(4), 120–124.
- Reardon, K., Bromley, K.W., & Unruh, D. (2021). The promise of Universal Design in postsecondary education: A literature review. *Journal of Postsecondary Education and Disability*, 34(3), 209-221.
- Romano, E., Babchishin, L., Marquis, R., & Fréchette, S. (2015). Childhood maltreatment and educational outcomes. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 16*(4), 418–437. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838014537908
- Ruble, L. A., McGrew, J., Dalrymple, N., & Jung, L. A. (2010). Examining the quality of IEPs for young children with autism. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 40(12), 1459–1470. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-010-1003-1
- Saldana, J. M. (2021). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Samios, C., Pakenham, K. I., & Sofronoff, K. (2012). Sense making and benefit finding in couples who have a child with Asperger syndrome: An application of the actor-partner interdependence model. *Autism*, *16*(3), 275-292. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361311418691
- Sandoval-Norton, A.H., Shkedy, G., & Shkedy, D. (2021). Long-term ABA therapy is abusive:

 A response to Gorycki, Ruppel, and Zane. *Advances in Neurodevelopmental*Disorders, 5, 126–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41252-021-00201-1

- Schermerhorn, A. C., & Cummings, M.E. (2008). Transactional family dynamics: A new framework for conceptualizing family influence processes. *Advances in Child Development and Behaviour*, *36*, 187-250. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2407(08)00005-0
- Shivers, C. M., Jackson, J. B., & McGregor, C. M. (2019). Functioning among typically developing siblings of individuals with autism spectrum disorder: A meta-analysis.

 Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review, 22(2), 172–196.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-018-0269-2
- Shivers, C. M., & Plavnick, J. B. (2015). Sibling involvement in interventions for individuals with autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 45, 685–696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-014-2222-7
- Silva, L. M., & Schalock, M. (2012). Autism parenting stress index: Initial psychometric evidence. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *42*(4), 566–574. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1274-1
- Simpson, K., Adams, K.D., & Roberts, A.K.J. (2017). Participation of children on the autism spectrum in home, school, and community. *Child: Care, Health, and Development, 44*(1), 99-107. https://doi.org/10.1111/cch.12483
- Smith, S. L., & McQuade, H. B. (2021). Exploring the health of families with a child with autism. *Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice*, *25*(5), 1203–1215. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320986354
- Sone, B. J., Lee, J., & Roberts, M. Y. (2021). Comparing instructional approaches in caregiverimplemented intervention: An interdisciplinary systematic review and meta-analysis.

- Journal of Early Intervention, 43(4), 339–360. https://doi.org/10.1177/1053815121989807
- Srinivasan, S., Ekbladh, A., Freedman, B., & Bhat, A. (2021). Needs assessment in unmet healthcare and family support services: A survey of caregivers of children and youth with autism spectrum disorder in Delaware. *Autism Research: Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research*, 14(8), 1736–1758.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.2514
- Sritharan, B., & Koola, M. M. (2019). Barriers faced by immigrant families of children with autism: A program to address the challenges. *Asian Journal of Psychiatry*, *39*, 53-57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajp.2018.11.017
- St. Amant, H. G., Schrager, S. M., Peña-Ricardo, C., Williams, M. E., & Vanderbilt, D. L. (2018). Language barriers impact access to services for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(2), 333–340. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3330-y
- Stahmer, A. C., Vejnoska, S., Iadarola, S., Straiton, D., Segovia, F. R., Luelmo, P., Morgan, E.
 H., Lee, H. S., Javed, A., Bronstein, B., Hochheimer, S., Cho, E., Aranbarri, A., Mandell,
 D., Hassrick, E. M., Smith, T., & Kasari, C. (2019). Caregiver voices: Cross-cultural input on improving access to autism services. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 6(4), 752–773. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-019-00575-y
- Taylor, J. L., & Warren, Z. E. (2012). Maternal depressive symptoms following autism spectrum diagnosis. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 42(7), 1411–1418. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-011-1375-x

- Timmins C. L. (2002). The impact of language barriers on the health care of Latinos in the United States: A review of the literature and guidelines for practice. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*, 47(2), 80–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1526-9523(02)00218-0
- Thomas, V., & Priest, J.B. (2016). Family Therapy. In Friedman, H.S. (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Mental Health* (2nd ed., pp. 235-239). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-397045-9.00179-8.
- Thornberg, R., & Charmaz, K. (2014). Grounded theory and theoretical coding. In *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Analysis* (pp. 153–169). SAGE.
- Tomeny, K. R., McWilliam, R. A., & Tomeny, T. S. (2020). Caregiver-implemented intervention for young children with autism spectrum disorder: A systematic review of coaching components. *Review Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 7(2), 168-181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40489-019-00186-7
- Tomiyama, S., Kikuchi, M., Yoshimura, Y., Hasegawa, C., Ikeda, T., Saito, D. N., Kumazaki, H., Naito, N., & Minabe, Y. (2018). Changes in maternal feelings for children with autism spectrum disorder after childbirth: The impact of knowledge about the disorder. *PloS One*, *13*(8). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201862
- Umberson, D., & Thomeer, M. B. (2020). Family matters: Research on family ties and health, 2010 to 2020. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 82(1), 404–419.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/jomf.12640
- Valderrama, A., Lajoie, X., Armstrong, M., Luizar-Obregon, A., & Kraus de Camargo, O.
 (2022). Person-reported perspectives on support availability for people with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic in Quebec. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 113(6), 834-845.

- Van Hof, M., Tisseur, C., Van Berckelear-Onnes, I., Van Nieuwenhuyzen, A., Daniels, A. M., Deen, M., Hoek, H. W., & Ester, W. A. (2021). Age at autism spectrum disorder diagnosis: A systematic review and meta-analysis from 2012 to 2019. *Autism: The International Journal of Research and Practice*, 25(4), 862–873. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361320971107
- Wang, F., Lao, U. C., Xing, Y. P., Zhou, P., Deng, W. L., Wang, Y., Ji, Y., Chen, M. Y., Li, H., & Zou, X. B. (2022). Parents' knowledge and attitude and behavior toward autism: A survey of Chinese families having children with autism spectrum disorder. *Translational Pediatrics*, 11(9), 1445–1457. https://doi.org/10.21037/tp-22-113
- Wang, L. W., Tancredi, D. J., & Thomas, D. W. (2011). The prevalence of gastrointestinal problems in children across the United States with autism spectrum disorders from families with multiple affected members. *Journal of Developmental and Behavioral Pediatrics*, 32(5), 351–360. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e31821bd06a
- Wallace, K. S., & Rogers, S. J. (2010). Intervening in infancy: Implications for autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, and Allied Disciplines*, *51*(12), 1300–1320. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02308.x
- Warren, Z., Veenstra-VanderWeele, J., Stone, W., Bruzek, J. L., Nahmias, A. S., Foss-Feig, J.
 H., Jerome, R. N., Krishnaswami, S., Sathe, N. A., Glasser, A. M., Surawicz, T., &
 McPheeters, M. L. (2011). Therapies for children with autism spectrum disorders.
 Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US).
- West, E.A., Travers, J.C., Kemper, T.D., Liberty, L.M., Cote, D.L., & McCollow, M.M. (2016).

 Racial and ethnic diversity of participants in research supporting evidence-based

- practices for learners with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Special Education*, 50(3), 151-163. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022466916632495.
- Wilkes-Gillan, S., & Lincoln, M. (2018). Parent-mediated intervention training delivered remotely for children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) has preliminary evidence for parent intervention fidelity and improving parent knowledge and children's social behaviour and communication skills. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 65(3), 245–246. https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12481
- Woolbridge, L.M., Um, B., & Duys, D.K. (2021). Women's experiences navigating paid work and caregiving during the COVID-19 pandemic. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 69(4), 284-298. https://doi.org/10.1002/cdq.12274
- Xu, Y., Jedwab, M., Wu, Q., Levkoff, S. E., & Xu, L. (2021). Risk and protective factors associated with grandparent kinship caregivers' psychological distress in COVID-19:
 Kinship license status as a moderator. *Child & Family Social Work*, 27(1), 41-54.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/cfs.12864
- Yalley, A. A., Abioye, D., Appiah, S. C. Y., & Hoeffler, A. (2023). Abuse and humiliation in the delivery room: Prevalence and associated factors of obstetric violence in Ghana.
 Frontiers in Public Health, 11 (988961). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2023.988961
- Van Esch, L., Vanmarcke, S., Ceulemans, E., Van Leeuwen, K., & Noens, I. (2018). Parenting adolescents with ASD: A multimethod study. *Autism Research: Official Journal of the International Society for Autism Research*, 11(7), 1000–1010.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.1956
- Zablotsky, B., Black, L. I., Maenner, M. J., Schieve, L. A., Danielson, M. L., Bitsko, R. H., Blumberg, S. J., Kogan, M. D., & Boyle, C. A. (2019). Prevalence and trends of

- developmental disabilities among children in the United States: 2009-2017. *Pediatrics*, *144*(4), e20190811. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-0811
- Zapata-Fonseca, L., Froese, T., Schilbach, L., & Vogeley, K., & Timmermans, B. (2018).

 Sensitivity to social contingency in adults with high-functioning autism during computermediated embodied interaction. *Behavioral Sciences*, 8(2), 1-14.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/bs8020022
- Zhang, X. (2022). Household chaos and caregivers' and young children's mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic: A mediation model. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-022-02283-4
- Zorcec, T., & Pop-Jordanova, N. (2020). Main needs and challenges of parents of children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Prilozi*, 41(2), 81–88. https://doi.org/10.2478/prilozi-2020-0036

Appendices

Appendix A - Recruitment Sites & Flyer

The Black Community Resource Centre (BRC)	https://bcrcmontreal.com/
West Island Black Community Association	https://wibca.org/
The South Asian Women's Community Centre	https://www.sawcc-ccfsa.ca/EN/about-sawcc/history/
Service De La Famille Chinoise Du Grand Montreal	https://www.famillechinoise.qc.ca/fr/
Black Healing Fund	https://www.blackhealingfund.com/therapists- and-healers
Canadian Council of Muslim Women (CCMW)	https://www.ccmw.com/
Centre d'aide aux familles latino-américaines	https://cafla.ca/
Carrefour d'Intercultures de Laval	https://www.carrefourintercultures.com/
Centre d'appui aux communautés immigrantes (CACI)	https://caci-bc.org/

Recruitment Poster

Free Parent Workshop!

I am seeking participants for a research study I am conducting as part of my graduate thesis at Concordia University. We are looking for parents of children with autism spectrum disorder (ASD) to participate in a free eight-week workshop.





Needs Assessment: What are your needs as parents?

We want to hear from you! You will be asked to share the types of supports and services you rely on, and whether you are happy with these services in terms of their quality, accessibility, availability.

Parents Taking Action (PTA)

Parents will be invited to participate in a free workshop. The workshop is eight weeks and will be conducted remotely on Zoom. Through this workshop, we hope to:

- Increase knowledge of ASD
- · Promote self-efficacy and confidence in your caregiving ability
- Offer a list of services, resources, and evidence-based practices available in Quebec
- Equip you with the requisite terminology and knowledge to advocate for your child in a variety of settings (e.g., schoolboard, hospital, social services).

Phase 2

Am I eligible?

We are looking for parents who are:

- · Located in Quebec and fluent in English.
- · Able to commit at least eight weeks.
- Are a parent of a child with ASD under 12 years old.
- Identify as either...
 - A racial/ethnic minority (e.g., Black, Latinx, Arab, Asian).
 - · An immigrant.
 - A child of immigrants (i.e., a first generation Canadian).





Appendix B - Sample Consent Form



INFORMATION AND CONSENT FORM

Study Title: Applied Intersectionality: Supporting Families of Children with Autism Spectrum

Disorder from Racial, Ethnic, and Cultural Minority Groups

Researcher: Paul De Luca

Researcher's Contact Information:

Phone: 514-291-1513

Email: p_delu@live.concordia.ca

Faculty Supervisor: Dr. Miranda D'Amico Faculty Supervisor's Contact Information:

Phone: 514-848-2424 ext. 2040 Email: miranda.damico@concordia.ca

Source of funding for the study: N/A

You are being invited to participate in the research study mentioned above. This form provides information about what participating would mean. Please read it carefully before deciding if you want to participate or not. If there is anything you do not understand, or if you want more information, please ask the researcher.

A. PURPOSE

The purpose of the research is twofold. Firstly, to identify what the needs of parents of children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) from cultural, racial, and ethnically diverse backgrounds are. This entails exploring the types of supports that parents rely on and whether they are satisfied with these systems. Secondly, we aim to assess whether an adapted version of the 'Parents Taking Action' psychoeducational intervention is effective.

The intervention aims to equip you with knowledge of autism, promote advocacy, and help you feel competent and confident navigating healthcare and school systems. You will be coached to understand your child's behaviour by learning to understand the development of social and play skills. You will also learn to recognize the signs and causes of ASD to not only improve your knowledge of ASD, but to dispel common myths. You will also learn how to advocate for your child at school to ensure that they are receiving the services they need. You will also be equipped with strategies to reduces stress. Additionally, you will be made aware of evidence-based interventions to improve your child's functioning (e.g., social and play skills, communication ability) and decrease problematic behaviour. You will also learn about current research-based strategies to improve communication with your children.

B. PROCEDURES

If you participate, you will be asked to complete two phases. In the first phase, we will conduct an interview to understand the types of supports you rely on to support your children and whether they are satisfied. In the second phase, you will complete questionnaires both before and after the 8-week intervention. The 8-week intervention consists of a one-hour weekly workshop on Zoom. The format of this intervention is group-based, meaning other parents will be present during the Zoom sessions completing the workshop with you. You will be given information about ASD, complete anchoring activities, and have the opportunity to share your experience as caregivers of children with special needs.

In total, participating in this study will take 8-10 weeks. The semi-structured interview will take between 30 minutes to one hour and will be conducted on Zoom. Interviews via phone or in person are available per the participant's request. The intervention will span 8 weeks to reflect 8 topics. Each session is between 45 minutes to one hour.

C. RISKS AND BENEFITS

You might face certain risks by participating in this research. These risks include discussing and viewing content that may be sensitive. For example, discussing some of the systemic barriers that parents from ethnically diverse backgrounds and their children face which may be particularly distressing to hear for some. Additionally, in some cultures having a child with special needs may be regarded as taboo, and members of the community may be ostracized if it is discovered they have a child with autism spectrum disorder. In participating in this group-based intervention, a potential risk is members within your community discovering your circumstances. While we will do our best to ensure that other participants do not disclose any information regarding the other participants in the study, we cannot guarantee that they will respect your confidentiality.

Potential benefits include an opportunity for you to become empowered by sharing your experience as caregivers of children with ASD. For parents who participate in the intervention, the intended benefits are:

Increased knowledge of ASD.

Increased understanding of their children's symptoms and how to better identify and assess their behaviours.

Increased confidence and competence in accessing resources and supports within the community.

Increased self-efficacy to ensure children are attaining developmental and educational milestones.

Learning what your rights are as caregivers of children with special needs and how to advocate for your children at school.

D. CONFIDENTIALITY

We will gather the following information as part of this research:

Interviews. You will be asked about the types of supports you currently rely on to help and guide your child with ASD, and whether you are content with the current resources, supports, and systems in place.

Responses to three questionnaires that will be administered before and after the intervention. These questionnaires are intended to measure your knowledge of ASD, caregiver satisfaction, efficacy and burden, and parental stress.

We will not allow anyone to access the information, except people directly involved in conducting the research. We will only use the information for the purposes of the research described in this form. The information gathered will be anonymous. That means that it will not be possible to make a link between you and the information you provide.

We will protect the information by storing all data on a password-protected computer that can only be accessed by me, the principal investigator. We intend to publish the results of the research. However, it will not be possible to identify you in the published results. To account for delays in writing, submitting, and presenting/publishing the data (e.g., interviews, scores on the questionnaires, responses), it will be stored up to two years following the completion of the study to ensure ample time is granted.

By signing this form, you agree to respect the confidentiality of the other participants in the study with you. In signing this form, you also agree to not disclose the identity of the other participants outside of the study. Moreover, your signature means you consent to having your identity known to other participants in the group intervention. Finally, in signing this form you agree that the researcher cannot guarantee others participants will respect your confidentiality.

F. CONDITIONS OF PARTICIPATION

You do not have to participate in this research. It is purely your decision. If you do participate, you can stop at any time. You can also ask that the information you provided not be used, and your choice will be respected. If you decide that you don't want us to use your information, you must tell the researcher up until one month after the final workshop session is completed.

There are no negative consequences for not participating, stopping in the middle, or asking us not to use your information.

G. PARTICIPANT'S DECLARATION

I have read and understood this form. I have had the chance to ask questions and any questions have been answered. I agree to participate in this research under the conditions described.

NAME (please print)		
SIGNATURE		

DATE	
------	--

If you have questions about the scientific or scholarly aspects of this research, please contact the researcher. Their contact information is on page 1. You may also contact their faculty supervisor.

If you have concerns about ethical issues in this research, please contact the Manager, Research Ethics, Concordia University, 514.848.2424 ex. 7481 or oor.ethics@concordia.ca.

Appendix C - Semi-structured interview script

- 1 How old is your child and when were they first diagnosed with ASD?
- 2- Who diagnosed your child (e.g., pediatrician, psychologist, psychiatrist)?
- 3- How long did it take to receive a diagnosis?
- 4- How did you feel upon first learning your child had ASD?
- 5- Did the professional who diagnosed your child offer any information about where you can access services and the types of services you will receive?
- 6- After receiving the diagnosis, which types of supports and resources (e.g., referral to a specialist, referral to support groups, information brochures or literature on the topic, intervention services) did you receive?
- 7- Which services do you rely on now?
- 8 Are these services accessible?
 - a. How frequently do you access these services? Are they easy to get to?
 - b. Are they covered by insurance?
- 9 How satisfied of these services are you?
 - a. Do you feel like the professionals you are working with are competent?
 - b. Do you feel these services are meeting your child's needs? In what way?
 - a. If not, why?
 - c. Do you feel these services are meeting the needs of your family? In what way?
 - a. If not, why?
 - d. Do you feel supported by these professionals? For example, do you feel as though you can seek additional information or ask questions?
- 9 What are some of the challenges you face accessing services?

- 10 Do you feel as though there are enough services offered to support your child and your family?
- 11 At school, does your child have the support they need to succeed?
 - a. What types of services are offered at your child's school?
 - b. Are you satisfied with these supports?

Appendix D - Weekly Intervention Schedule, Objectives, & Activities

(Adapted from Magana et al., 2017a; Magana et al., 2017b).

Session One: Introduction to the Program & Understanding Child Development

This is an opportunity for interventionists and parents to get to know each other. It is important in this first session that interventionist emphasize what they have in common with the parent. This will improve their bond and give credibility to the advice they give because of their shared experience as parents of children with autism.

Objectives of Session Two:

- Introduction.
- Talk about child development.
- Review information from the Center for Disease Control.
- Talk about the M-CHAT.

Key activities in Session Two:

- Read Tom's story.
- Practice the stages of child development with a picture dictionary.

Additional Points for Session Two:

- Tell interventionists to allow parents time to answer questions: It's okay to sit in silence for a moment.
- Have printed information sheet from the CDC available for interventionists to bring to give to parents after the session.

Session Two: Understanding the Autism Spectrum and Your Child's Needs (1-2 hours)

Objectives of Session Two:

- Review key terms about autism.
- Talk about myths and realities.

Key activities in Session Two:

- Talk about your reaction when your child was diagnosed with autism.
- Review and practice the activity about the 12 signs of autism.
- Complete the activity about your child's needs.
- Read Miguel's story.

Additional points for Session Two:

- You can have participants talk to each other about their experiences around diagnosis, but be sure to set and keep time-limits.
- Be sure participants are familiar with the 12 signs of autism.
- You can create a game where they separate myths from realities.

Session Three: What Works to Address the Symptoms of ASD

Objectives of Session Three:

- Understand what "evidence-based practices" means.
- Recognize the types of therapies that have evidence supporting their use.
- Recognize the types of therapies that are unproven or potentially harmful.
- Recognize the advantages of using evidence-based interventions.
- Recognize whether your child is using evidence-based therapies or programs.
- Evaluate the effects of using unestablished therapies or treatments.
- Provide parents will resources and services in the Montreal area.

Additional Points for Session Three:

• Be sure that participants have a strong understanding of "evidence-based practices," and that they will not promote alternative and unproven therapies when they support parents.

Session Four: How to be an Effective Advocate

Objectives of Session Four:

- Review the concept of how to advocate.
- Review "tips" or ideas for how to be an effective advocate.

Key activities in Session Four:

- Listen to Mateo's Story.
- Practice with an activity about how to advocate.

Additional points for Session Four:

- Present a "bad" example of advocacy through role play and have the group discuss what went wrong and how to be a more effective advocate.
- Write down their "tips" or ideas for how to be an effective advocate on a whiteboard or large piece of paper.

Session Five: Advocacy in the School System

Objectives of Session Five:

- Learn key terms relevant to the school system.
- Review five ideas or tips to advocate in the school system.
- Discuss IEPs.

Key activities in Session Five:

• Listen to a short story about advocating in the school system.

Session Six: Play Together Learn Together

Objectives of Session Six:

• Understand common difficulties experienced by children with autism pertaining to play.

- Analyze the diverse ways in which children play alone and with others.
- Understand the characteristics of play in children with autism.
- Learn how to arrange the environment for successful play with parents, siblings, or other children.
- Learn ways to interact with your child to promote meaningful engagement with toys and other materials.
- Learn how you can facilitate peer interactions during a scheduled play time.

Additional points for Session Six:

- Allow parents to understand and express common difficulties experienced by children with autism pertaining to play.
- Discuss how to arrange the environment for successful play. Interventionists should emphasize the following:
 - o Turn off the television and try to minimize any distractions/interruptions.
 - o Maintain organized play for a short and successful time period (start off with 5 minutes and then gradually increase).
 - o Show a video that shows participants how to promote meaningful engagement of children with toys and other materials. Point out how the adult in the video:
 - Gets the child's attention.
- Shows the child a new way to play with a toy.
- Waits and prompts.
- Rewards the child.

Session Seven: Creating Everyday Opportunities to Encourage Communication

Objectives of Session Seven:

- Understand the communication difficulties that children with autism often have.
- Learn the different forms of communication: verbal, augmentative and alternative communication such as: picture exchange communication.
- Analyze how children communicate and the purposes of communication.
- Expand your child's communication skills.
- Learn how to arrange the environment in order to promote communication during everyday situations.

Key activities in Session Seven:

• Complete the communication chart.

Additional points for Session Seven:

- Provide participants access to different forms of augmentative and alternative communication such as: picture exchange communication and voice output devices to familiarize them with commonly-used options.
- Review the purposes of communication.
- Show a video of naturalistic teaching and point out when the adult is using expansions, following the child's lead and communication temptations.

• Show a video that shows how mother and sibling prime the child on how to greed a friend.

Session Eight: Stress Management & Building Support

Objectives of Session Eight:

- Talk about the symptoms of stress.
- Share suggestions on how to control stress.
- Listen and talk about a short story about encouraging community acceptance of disability.
- Review the Circle of Friends.
- Talk about and engage in some activities about how to talk to others about your child with autism.
- Discuss how and when to tell your child about his condition of autism.

Key activities in Session Eight:

- Practice a relaxation activity.
- Listen and talk about a short story about family issues of families of kids with disabilities.
- Listen to short story and facilitate discussion.
- Review Circle of Friends Model and explain the components.
- Discuss issues and challenges with talking about children with ASD.
- Review the chart, "Explaining ASD to others" and encourage parent to fill in the blanks.

Appendix E - Caregiver Burden, Satisfaction, and Efficacy (CBSE) Scale (Heller et al., 1999)

For each item, please tell what number best reflects how strongly you agree or disagree with the following statements and if it applies to your life with your child. For each sentence, answer the best way you can depending on the coding scale.

	Strongly Disagree	Somewhat Disagree	Somewhat Agree	Strongly Agree
Caring for my child hurts my job	0	1	2	3
I would make a fine model for a parent of a child with a disability	0	1	2	3
3. I feel I can manage my child's behavior	0	1	2	3
 Caring for my child places a financial strain on the family 	0	1	2	3
5. I worry a lot about my child's future	0	1	2	3
I meet my own expectations in caring for my child	0	1	2	3
Caring for my child leaves me with little time to be me	0	1	2	3
Caring for my child leaves me physically exhausted	0	1	2	3
If anyone can find the answer to what is troubling my child, I can	0	1	2	3
10. I honestly believe I have the skills necessary to be a good parent to my child	0	1	2	3
11. Caring for my child limits my social life	0	1	2	3
12. My child's pleasure over some little thing gives me pleasure	0	1	2	3
13. Caring for my child means fewer vacations for me	0	1	2	3
14. Caring for my child does not leave enough time to do things I like	0	1	2	3
15. My child shows real appreciation for what I do for him/her	0	1	2	3
16. Taking responsibility for my child gives my self-esteem a boost	0	1	2	3
17. Caring for my child hurts my chances for a good marriage	0	1	2	3

18. Helping my child helps me feel close to	0	1	2	3
him/her				
19. I really enjoy being with my child	0	1	2	3
20. I feel that what I can do can help improve	0	1	2	3
my child's situation				

Appendix F - Autism Parenting Stress Index (APSI) (Silva & Schalok, 2012)

Date Ferson completing checklist.	Date:	Person completing checklist:
-----------------------------------	-------	------------------------------

	Stress Ratings				
Please rate the following aspects of your child's health according to how much stress it causes you and/or your family by placing an X in the box that best describes your situation.	Not stressful	Sometimes creates stress	Often creates stress	Very stressful on a daily basis	So stressful sometimes we feel we can't cope
Your child's social development	0	1	2	3	5
Your child's ability to communicate	0	1	2	3	5
Tantrums/meltdowns	0	1	2	3	5
Aggressive behavior (siblings, peers)	0	1	2	3	5
Self-injurious behavior	0	1	2	3	5
Difficulty making transitions from one activity to another	0	1	2	3	5
Sleep problems	0	1	2	3	5
Your child's diet	0	1	2	3	5
Bowel problems (diarrhea, constipation)	0	1	2	3	5
Potty training	0	1	2	3	5
Not feeling close to your child	0	1	2	3	5
Concern for the future of your child being accepted by others	0	1	2	3	5
Concern for the future of your child living independently	0	1	2	3	5
	Subtotal				
				Total	

NC ND This work is licensed under the Creative Commons,

http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0. © LMTSilva Nov. 2011. This instrument is protected by copyright; it may not be altered or sold. Permission is granted for duplication free of charge. Qigong Sensory Training Institute, www.qsti.org

Appendix G - Autism Spectrum Knowledge Scale, General Version (APKS-G) (McClain et

al., 2019)

*Participants choose True, False, or Don't Know

Please answer the following questions. If you do not know an answer, select Don't Know. Please refrain from looking up the correct responses.

Etiology/Prevalence

- 1. Less than 2% of people in the US have autism spectrum disorder.
- 2. Vaccines can cause autism spectrum disorder.
- 3. Boys are four times as likely than girls to have autism spectrum disorder.
- 4. Children who have a brother or sister with autism spectrum disorder are more likely to develop the disorder.
- 5. Autism spectrum disorder is caused by a lack of motherly warmth.
- 6. Advanced paternal (father) age is a risk factor for autism spectrum disorder.
- 7. There are no differences in the identification rates of autism spectrum disorder across racial and ethnic groups.

Symptoms/Associated Behaviors

- 1. All individuals with autism spectrum disorder have low intellectual quotients (i.e., IOs).
- 2. Children with autism spectrum disorder may not play with toys the way they are intended.
- 3. Individuals with autism spectrum disorder may have strict routines or rituals.
- 4. Individuals with autism spectrum disorder have difficulties interacting socially with others.
- 5. Some individuals with autism spectrum disorder may be uncoordinated or clumsy.
- 6. Many individuals with autism spectrum disorder have difficulties expressing themselves.
- 7. Symptoms of autism spectrum disorder do not appear before the age of 2 years.

Assessment/Diagnosis

- 1. Diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder is primarily based on behavioral observations and parent interviews.
- 2. Autism spectrum disorder can only be diagnosed after the age of 4 years.
- 3. If a teacher believes a student has autism spectrum disorder, they can make a diagnosis.
- 4. Autism spectrum disorder can be diagnosed with brain imaging.
- 5. For a diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder, symptoms must be present from early childhood.
- 6. It is possible for autism spectrum disorder to develop in adulthood.

7. A diagnosis of autism spectrum disorder can only be made by a medical doctor.

Treatment

- 1. There are no beneficial treatments available for individuals with autism spectrum disorder.
- 2. Restricting certain foods (e.g., gluten) is an effective treatment for autism spectrum disorder.
- 3. Social skills training is an effective treatment for some individuals with autism spectrum disorder.
- 4. Intellectual quotient (i.e., IQ) and age affect treatment success for children with autism spectrum disorder.

Outcomes/Prognosis

- 1. Most individuals with autism spectrum disorder will never learn to speak.
- 2. Symptoms of autism spectrum disorder do not change throughout an individual's life.
- 3. Autism spectrum disorder only affects children.
- 4. Many individuals with autism spectrum disorder have difficulties living and working independently in adulthood.
- 5. Up to 70% of individuals with autism spectrum disorder also have an additional mental health diagnosis (e.g., anxiety).
- 6. Many children with autism spectrum disorder are at risk for academic difficulties.